External Funding Matters, but Does it Matter Who it Comes from?

Exploring the Differential Effects of Different Funding Types on Swedish Biotech Firms

Lena Schult (41810)

Abstract:

The biotechnology field produces astonishing medical innovations with vital transformative potential for modern medicine and society at large. At the same time, biotech is characterized as R&D-intensive, with decade-long product lead times and the need for substantial investment costs. Dedicated biotech firms (DBF) hence depend on interorganizational ties to other actors to access external capital and complementary resources. Different capital providers offer various types of funding that differ in their investment objectives and degrees of engagement. This master thesis seeks to analyze the differential effects of different funding types on DBF performance by empirically investigating the Swedish biotech ecosystem from 2004-2015. The theoretical framework used for analysis combines Entrepreneurial Ecosystem and Entrepreneurial Finance literature. Using an explorative pre-study, we shine light on the dynamic composition of funding along the DBF life cycle. Building on the findings from the pre-study, the main analysis constitutes a series of regression models estimating the effect of the most relevant funding types on performance in terms of growth. We find evidence that the total number of funding ties, funding from the government, and international funding are consistently positively correlated with employee growth. Funding from VCs and corporate alliances only partially show a positive growth impact. We discuss the importance of overcoming the prevalent funding gap and account for different dynamics bringing about the specific capital landscape in Sweden's biotech ecosystem.

Keywords: Biotech; Entrepreneurial Ecosystem; Entrepreneurial Finance; External Funding

Supervisor: Angelika Lindstrand: *Academic Director*, SSE MBA; *Affiliated Researcher*, Department of Marketing and Strategy

Word count: 19,002

Master Thesis Master Program in Business and Management (MBM) Stockholm School of Economics December 4, 2022 © Lena Schult, 2022

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Angelika Lindstrand as my supervisor for her excellent guidance through my master thesis. Highly constructive feedback sessions and an excellent eye for detail and for the red thread greatly impacted the quality of my work. Angelika's vast expertise on the biotech field and beyond was not only insightful but inspiring.

My gratitude also goes to Eve-Michelle Basu, Postdoc at the Department of Marketing and Strategy, for her dedicated support along the entire research process. Her enthusiasm was a driving force and never failed to motivate me.

Finally, I would like to thank Joakim Fichtel, PHD at KTH Royal Institute of Technology within the Real Estate and Construction Management Department, who generously explained the underlying event dataset.

Glossary

Biotech	Biotechnology
DBF	Dedicated Biotech Firm
EE	Entrepreneurial Ecosystem
EMA	European Medicines Agency
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GVC	Governmental Venture Capital
IPO	Initial Public Offering
IVC	Independent Venture Capital
M&A	Merger & Acquisition
PE	Private Equity
R&D	Research & Development
SWF	Sovereign Wealth Funds
VC	Venture Capital

Table of Contents

1.	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Purpose	2
	1.2	Contribution	3
2.	The	Biotech Field	
3	The	and Hunotheses	7
э.	Ine		
	3.1	Theoretical Framework	8
	3.1.1	Entrepreneurial Ecosystems	
	3.1.2	Entrepreneurial Finance	
	3.1.3	Performance Measurement.	
	5.1.4	Synthesis of Conceptual Framework	
	3.2	Literature Review and Hypotheses Formulation	
	3.2.1	Total Funding Ties and Firm Performance	
	3.2.2	Funding from the Government and Firm Performance	
	3.2.3	Funding from Corporate Alliances and Firm Performance	
	3.2.4	Funding from VCs and Firm Performance.	
	3.2.5	Funding from International Capital Providers and Firm Performance	
4.	Meth	hod	
	4.1	Methodological Fit	
	4.2	Empirical Setting	20
	43	Data	21
	1 31	Fvent Dataset	·····21
	432	Event Dataset	
	т.J.2		
	4.4	Sample	
	4.5	Pre-Study	
	4.5.1	Definition of Funding Ties	
	4.5.2	Overview of Funding Landscape	
	4.5.3	Funding Ties of the Sample DBFs	
	4.6	Measures & Variables	
	4.6.1	Dependent Variables	
	4.6.2	Independent Variables	
	4.6.3	Control Variables	
	4.7	Analytical Procedures	
5.	Resi	ılts	
	5.1	Descriptive Statistics of Variables	
	5.2	Result of the Performance Evaluation	40
6	Disc	ussion	45
υ.	Dist		
	6.1	Discussion of Pre-Study	
	6.2	Discussion of Performance Evaluation	47

	6.3	Limitations & Future Research	
	6.3.1	Limitations	
	6.3.2	Future Research	
7.	Con	clusion	
	7.1	Contributions	
	7.1.1	Theoretical Contributions	
	7.1.2	Practical Implications	
8.	Refe	erences	
9.	App	endix	
	9.1	Appendix 1 – Definition of Funding Types	76
	9.2	Appendix 2 – BioArctic's Funding History	77

1. Introduction

"Our solid financial situation make[s] us a unique biopharma company, not only in Sweden but globally" says Gunilla Osswald, CEO of *BioArctic* (Garcia, 2019, para. 2). *BioArctic* is one of Sweden's greatest success stories in the biotechnology field developing immunotherapies for neurodegenerative disorders and has recently achieved groundbreaking advancements with *lecanemab* – the first disease-modifying drug to prove effective in slowing the progression of Alzheimer's disease (Hodes, 2022). As Gunilla Osswald's statement suggests, external funding plays a crucial role in bridging the gap between scientific discovery and a marketable biotech product. But does it matter who the capital comes from? We seek to answer this question by exploring the differential performance effects of different types of funding in biotech.

The setting of this thesis is the Swedish biotechnology field and its dedicated biotech firms that are or aspire to become, a success story like *BioArctic*. In its broadest sense, biotechnology is defined as "the application of science and technology to living organisms, as well as parts, products and models thereof, to alter living or non-living materials for the production of knowledge, goods and services" (OECD, 2005). Firms operating in the biotech field are referred to as dedicated biotechnology firms (DBF). Although biotechnology is a multidisciplinary field, including agricultural, industrial, marine, food, environmental, and medical biotechnology (Gupta et al., 2017), we restrict the focus of this thesis to medical biotech only. Following the literature, we use the term DBF to refer to firms applying biotechnology techniques to develop, produce, and commercialize goods or services in human therapeutics and diagnostics (Powell et al., 1996). The biotech field is highly interesting to investigate for several reasons. Firstly, the field is producing innovations with significant transformative potential for modern medicine and society at large (Regeringskansliet, 2000). Secondly, biotech positively impacts the economy through job creation, exports and gross value added (Hopkins et al., 2019), making it a key agenda point of policy makers. Globally, the biotech field is projected to grow by almost 18% from 2021 to 2030, reaching a total valuation of US\$ 3.44 trillion (Vision Research Reports, 2022). Thirdly, the field is unique in that long development cycles (Pisano, 2006), huge investment costs (Powell et al., 1996), and on top of that low breakthrough rates (Bratic et al., 2014) imply high risk. Hence it is important to understand theoretically and empirically how funding from different sources impacts the performance of DBFs and the biotech field as a whole.

For the theoretical framework guiding our analyses, we employ key concepts from two streams of research. The first is the literature on Entrepreneurial Ecosystem (EE), which suggests that entrepreneurship is not an independent effort, but rather co-created by different actors such as universities, capital providers, public institutions, established firms, as well as new ventures (Wurth et al., 2022). From this perspective, the performance of a DBF is dependent on the interorganizational relationships it forms with other ecosystem actors to access key resources (Feldman et al., 2019). The second stream of literature is on Entrepreneurial Finance, which allows to focus on the role of external capital as one factor of EEs. Entrepreneurial Finance considers both the funding demands of a DBF, as well as the funding options supplied by different capital providers and how these alter along the firm life cycle (Fraser et al., 2015). This literature emphasizes differences between various types of funding and accounts for the realities of market inefficiencies leading to funding gaps (Wilson et al., 2018). Additionally, we address theory on performance measurements in a funding context in general and specific to the biotech field. Given the uniqueness of the industry in terms of long development-cycles and high investment costs the use of traditional performance metrics related to financial indicators alone warrants caution, leading us to evaluate both sales and employee growth.

Applying the synthesized framework to the described setting, we empirically analyze the conceptual explanations of the relationship between funding and DBF performance by theory. A unique dataset is leveraged to extract detailed information about different funding events relating to a sample of 313 DBFs in Sweden between 2004-2013. Further secondary databases are consulted to retrieve financial information on the sample firms. Through an explorative pre-study, we investigate the composition of different types of funding across the study period and along the life cycle of a DBF. The most discussed sources of capital in previous literature are the government, corporate alliances, and venture capital firms (VCs), as well as international funding sources. We estimate the relationships between funding from these sources and DBF performance using a series of regression analyses. We thereby look at performance in terms of sales growth and employment growth.

1.1 Purpose

The purpose of this master thesis is twofold. The main purpose is to untangle the relationship between different funding types and DBF performance in terms of growth. Using statistical tests, this thesis models firm performance as a function of funding ties from different

external capital providers. To operationalize this relationship, we need to first understand the funding landscape of the Swedish biotech sector. Thus, the second purpose, acting as an enabler to the first, is to describe the dynamics of how different funding types are employed in practice through relationships between capital providers and DBFs. Concepts from the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem and Entrepreneurial Finance literature are applied to interpret the observations. The two purposes result in the following research questions:

1) What is the differential effect of different types of funding on DBF performance?

2) What is the dynamic composition of the Swedish biotech funding landscape?

1.2 Contribution

With this master thesis we contribute to existing literature and furthermore, provide valuable practical insights. We advance the understanding of the relationship between funding and DBF performance by combining concepts from the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem (EE) and Entrepreneurial Finance perspectives. Such combination of these two allows for an explanation of the composition of different types of entrepreneurial capital, influenced by dynamically changing needs of the DBF and the capital providers. Hence, we are able to explain how these two sides come together in an entrepreneurial ecosystem, forming interorganizational relationships that facilitate resource exchange, product development and growth. In addition, these theoretical concepts are tested empirically by evaluating the relationship of external funding and performance. We contribute by untangling and testing the performance effects of different funding types and thereby provide alternative evidence to inconclusive previous studies. Consequently, we add to previous research by employing a combined theoretical lens that offers a holistic explanation for why certain funding types have a greater impact on firm performance, while also acknowledging for the realities of market failure that constrain the biotech field.

Given that biotech products, services and solutions have far-reaching social, economic, and environmental impacts, policy makers have taken great interest in strengthening this field (Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). The Swedish government recognizes that "biotechnology can, in the future, impact the living situation and development for all the inhabitants of the earth" (Regeringskansliet, 2000, p. 2, English Summary). Biotechnology is understood as a growth engine leading the government to call for increased efforts to fund its development (Regeringskansliet, 2000). Against this backdrop, it is important to understand the nature and behavior of the financial markets that fund DBFs (A. N. Berger & Udell, 1998) and to ensure that policy actions are effective in achieving the stated public benefits (OECD, 2005). Past research pointed out that Sweden's biotech ecosystem is struggling to achieve growth (Carlsson, 2002). As we measure both sales and employee development in our empirical analysis, we specifically enhance the understanding of how funding relates to growth. These insights hence entail important implications for effective policy making aimed at growing the biotech field through the capital market.

Finally, this thesis provides practical implications for decisionmakers in the industry. Hopkins et al. (2013) argue that funding decisions impact a firm's strategic direction and performance. This thesis can guide the management of DBFs by improving the understanding of the spectrum of available funding and by providing insights on the optimal type of funding in driving growth. Furthermore, this research can benefit capital providers and investors seeking to determine a DBF's market value. Traditional financial indicators have been criticized for not capturing the significant value of high-tech firms invested heavily in R&D and intangible assets (Yang, 2007). An examination of a DBF's existing relationships to external capital providers can offer an alternative, non-financial means to evaluate its value. This evaluation can offer an alternative, non-financial means to evaluate firm value. A non-financial indicator of value is especially useful in the biotech industry, where assets are intangible and products are considered high-risk (Stuart et al., 1999; Yang, 2007). The ability to predict the performance of a new venture, in turn, has the potential to significantly decrease investment risk (Pasayat et al., 2022).

The remainder of the thesis is structured as follows. First, we elaborate more on the peculiarities of the biotech sector (2). A theoretical framework and hypotheses section follows (3), which provides a map of previous studies on the subject and introduces the theoretical concepts used for analysis. In this section we derive hypotheses based on both the theoretical ideas and gaps in previous literature. In the method section (4) we describe and reflect on the chosen methodological approach and describe the empirical setting. We present the results of our explorative pre-study as part of the method chapter as this provides the necessary basis for how we define, measure and test our variables. In the subsequent results (5) and discussion (6) sections, we describe and interpret the outcomes of the performance analysis. We close the

thesis by acknowledging limitations and proposing future areas of research and offer some concluding remarks (7).

2. The Biotech Field

BioArctic's promising Alzheimer drug *lecanemab* is the result of a scientific discovery made by the professor and later founder Lars Lannfelt's in the 1990s. Today *lecanemab* is on its path to becoming the first effective disease-modifying drug against Alzheimer's and is heading for market approval in the US, Japan and EU in early 2023 (Langreth, 2022). More than 30 years have passed from scientific discovery to the achievement of promising late-stage results. Decades in which the product is not commercially sold a single time, yet costs billions in research and development (R&D). The DBF relies on strategic partnerships in accessing important resources including external capital. *BioArctic* is an exemplary case demonstrating the challenges common in the biotech field. Because these peculiarities have important implications for the funding landscape, we wish to clarify them at this stage.

As defined in the introduction, we focus on medical biotechnology and on those DBFs applying biotech techniques to develop, produce, and commercialize goods or services in human therapeutics and diagnostics (Powell et al., 1996). An EY Industry Report summarizes the discovery and development process in biotech (Giovannetti & Morrison, 2000). The first and oftentimes longest stage is the discovery stage, which can range between 2 - 10 years. Here, the DBF focuses on extensive basic research efforts rooted in biology and biochemistry with the aim of reaching a scientific discovery that has potential to become a drug candidate. In the second stage, this lead drug candidate is developed and tested in first pre-clinical trials. Thereafter, the lead candidate is clinically tested in phase I, II, and III trials. Following promising late-stage trial results, the DBF can apply for approval with the respective administrative bodies, such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the US, or the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in Europe. These will conduct extensive reviews before granting or declining commercialization approval, which can take approximately 2 years. The approval rate for biotech products by the FDA have been estimated previously to lie at 32% (DiMasi et al., 2010), 25% (Philippidis, 2012) and 15% (Hay et al., 2014). Yet, these rates are only for products already in clinical-trial phase I stages. Many research efforts never even make it that far in the first place (Bratic et al., 2014). After approval, a 2-year period of postmarketing testing follows.

The reason why the development process in biotech is so extensive and heavily regulated is that biotech is based on highly novel and specific knowledge that has only recently emerged. DBFs employ complex methods from a plethora of disciplines in molecular biology, organic chemistry, computer technology, and software development in their research (Deeds et al., 2000). Biotech R&D is capital-intensive and lengthy with development cycles typically ranging between 10-20 years (Pisano, 2006; Westhead & Storey, 1997). In fact, according to the 2020 EU industrial R&D scoreboard by the European Commission, "pharmaceuticals & biotechnology" ranks as the top sector regarding R&D spending, totaling €166.8 billion in 2019 (Grassano et al., 2020). Toth (2013) even goes so far as to claim that while the number of novel therapeutic breakthroughs has not increased, development costs have skyrocketed. The development costs of a single new drug has been estimated to be as high as \$4.54 billion (Schlander et al., 2021). High R&D costs coupled with limited operating revenue imply that DBFs often make losses in their first years of existence (Zakrzewska & Kijek, 2016). Given the lack of revenue, a DBF relies on external funding long before a commercial product or service is developed, and in many cases even without ever achieving successful product commercialization (Lazonick & Tulum, 2011).

Apart from funding, other critical resources such as knowledge, human capital, infrastructure, and market access are also necessary for successful commercialization of entrepreneurial biotech products (Feldman et al., 2019). To access these resources, DBFs utilize interorganizational relationships with various actors in their ecosystem more extensively than companies in other fields (Gilding et al., 2020; Lindstrand et al., 2011; Powell et al., 1996, 2005). Given their focus on science, DBFs are often closely associated with universities and academic research projects (Carlsson, 2002). Further, it is common that strategic alliances are formed with established pharma companies, where collaborations can entail licensing or R&D agreements or equity joint ventures (Dushnitsky & Lenox, 2005). Merger & acquisition (M&A) deals are thereby no rarity (Carlsson, 2002). The government takes another key role in the biotech ecosystem. Its role is to strengthen this promising field, recognized as an engine for economic growth (Regeringskansliet, 2000). Moreover, the state has a responsibility to incentivize R&D tackling the global disease burden and to correct market failures such as the funding gap that we will elaborate more on in section 3 (Toth, 2013). Finally, the broader healthcare ecosystem is characterized by a unique set of stakeholders including payers, practitioners, patients, and pharmacists that interact in complex ways. We will not elaborate

more on these stakeholders, however, it is interesting to note that their influence further favors the emergence of interorganizational relationships (Wadman & Hütt, 2004).

In this thesis we want to focus on ecosystem ties that relate to funding. It is a major challenge for a young venture without revenue, collateral or validating track-record to access external capital in this high-risk field. Considering the length of the product development process and the need for a consistent flow of capital, a DBF also requires several, successive rounds of funding (Bonini & Capizzi, 2019). In sourcing external capital, a DBF can access different sources and forms of funding, each with varying degrees of engagement and investment objectives (A. N. Berger & Udell, 1998). Extant literature explores the numerous types of funding available specifically in the biotech field and with a focus on early-stage DBFs (Lazonick & Tulum, 2011; Toth, 2013). The most prominently mentioned sources of funding are government grants or subsidies, venture capital (VC), and alliances with established pharmaceutical or other biotech companies. Yet business angels, philanthropic funds, private equity (PE), commercial banks, the stock market, family and friends, research organizations, and accelerator programs also provide capital. A definition of each of these funding ties is provided in the appendix (9.1).

Ensuring a consistent flow of funding to spur product commercialization is consistently identified as one of a DBF's key challenges by several researchers (Bertoni & Randone, 2004; Gilding et al., 2020; Lazonick & Tulum, 2011; McCutchen & Swamidass, 1996; Toth, 2013; Woiceshyn, 1995). The choice of funding impacts the strategic behavior and performance of the DBF (Hopkins et al., 2013). Although it is generally understood that biotechnology calls for a different funding model than other industries, only little is known about the links between the type of funding and firm performance (Ahmed & Cozzarin, 2009). How different types of funding impact DBF growth performance remains an open question, which we aim to address in this thesis.

3. Theory and Hypotheses

This thesis employs concepts from the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem (EE) in conjunction with the Entrepreneurial Finance literature. Brief introductions and key concepts of the theories are outlined below (3.1.1 and 3.1.2), followed by an overview of performance measurements in the biotech context (3.1.3). The theory perspectives are then conceptualized into the analytical

framework (3.1.4). Thereafter, we zoom in on the most relevant types of funding in biotech and hypothesize their effect on DBF performance (3.2).

3.1 Theoretical Framework

3.1.1 Entrepreneurial Ecosystems

The Entrepreneurial Ecosystem (EE) perspective views entrepreneurship not as an independent effort of a single firm, but as a joint effort of multiple, different actors such as universities, capital providers, public institutions, established firms as well as new ventures (Wurth et al., 2022). EEs thus are collective environments for entrepreneurship made up of different actors, processes and culture that contribute to competitive advantage and shape entrepreneurial outcomes for individual firms, industries and nations (Feldman et al., 2019). They can be specific to an industry and geographically bound, which is why they are often referred to as "hubs" or "clusters" (Alaassar et al., 2022; Gilding, 2008; Mason & Brown, 2014). Importantly, EEs affect not only the activity and performance of start-ups in the narrow sense, but the entirety of potential entrepreneurs, start-ups, growth-oriented innovative firms, and larger corporate entities in different institutional, geographic, economic, or industrial contexts (Brown & Mason, 2017).

In a review of previous EE research (Donegan et al., 2019; Qin et al., 2019; Vedula & Kim, 2019) conducted for a special section in *Industrial and Corporate Change*, Feldman et al. (2019) summarize the factors contributing to a successful EE as 1) human capital, 2) knowledge creation, 3) access to finance, 4) market access, and 5) infrastructure relevant to entrepreneurship and innovation. These success factors are also vital in the specific setting of the biotech field. To access these resources related to knowledge, funding, and infrastructure (Gilding et al., 2020), young and innovative DBFs depend on external resources and stakeholders in their environment (Powell et al., 1996, 2005). Further, the path from scientific research to product commercialization is not straightforward and requires the involvement of several stakeholders along the way (Toth, 2013; Wadman & Hütt, 2004). As a result, DBFs depend on the EE and engage in relationships with other ecosystem actors to a greater extent than new ventures in other fields (McKelvey et al., 2003; Stuart et al., 1999). Put simply, in the biotech field several actors, who are not necessarily new ventures, come together in an ecosystem and engage jointly in entrepreneurial activity.

Many studies of EEs focus on identifying different factors or elements in an ecosystem. The World Economic Forum (2013) for instance defines the EE elements as 1) accessible markets, 2) human capital workforce, 3) funding & finance, 4) mentors, advisors, & support systems, 5) regulatory framework & infrastructure, 6) education & training, 7) major universities as catalysts, and 8) cultural support. Among these elements, "funding and finance" has been understood as critical in spurring the entrepreneurial activity and defining for a successful ecosystem cluster (Gilding et al., 2020). It has been pointed out that the complementarity and interdependence among different actors (Jacobides et al., 2018) act as enabling or constraining entrepreneurial outcomes. Skeptics have, however, criticized that the EE literature focuses mainly on identifying elements in an ecosystem without understanding the dynamics of interaction between them (Shwetzer et al., 2019). Hence, more research has strived to develop the conceptual frameworks of the theory and to study the relationships between the main elements of an EE (Brown & Mason, 2017; Shwetzer et al., 2019).

3.1.2 Entrepreneurial Finance

Entrepreneurial Finance is a stream of literature that considers how nascent firms access capital to fund their growth and innovation and looks at different investors with varying motives and financing engagements (Block et al., 2018; H. D. Kang, 2018). Entrepreneurial Finance covers venture capital, private equity, trade credit, angel finance, IPOs among others (Cumming & Johan, 2017). Recent research has focused on changes in the landscape of Entrepreneurial Finance as new forms, such as crowdfunding or peer-to-peer lending, emerge. Different forms of funding, distinguished mainly between equity and debt, are also subjects of study in the field (S. Myers, 1984). The perspective further puts an emphasis on the relationship between a firm's access to capital and performance (Fraser et al., 2015).

Entrepreneurial Finance provides theoretical explanations for financial constraints that arise in practice as it looks at supply and demand forces of capital in an entrepreneurial setting (Fraser et al., 2015). On the demand side, the concept of the financial pecking-order (S. Myers, 1984; S. C. Myers & Majluf, 1984) suggests that companies themselves prefer internal funding over external debt or external equity, and short-term debt over long-term debt. This theory has roots in corporate finance literature, but has been applied to the entrepreneurial setting, too (Bonini & Capizzi, 2019). These preferences are driven by the entrepreneur's aversion to risk and cost, which are highest with external equity (Manigart et al., 1997). Further, ownership

considerations influence the funding demand, as entrepreneurs can be reluctant to lose control through ownership dilution or fear the consequences of defaulting on debt (Fraser et al., 2015). Small technology-based firms have hence been found to finance their innovations primarily with internal funds (Revest & Sapio, 2012). These internal sources, however, are often insufficient in meeting the substantial amount of investments typical in high-tech industries (Czarnitzki & Delanote, 2015).

On the supply side, agency theory (Jensen & Meckling, 1976) has been used to explain how information asymmetries and moral hazard lead to a constrain in the supply of external finance (Denis, 2004). This type of market failure leads to allocative inefficiencies (Bonini & Capizzi, 2019), which in turn explain the shortage in the supply of external capital. Young firms that lack a proven track record of the marketability of their products are especially informationally opaque and struggle to attract external funding (Revest & Sapio, 2012). This is aggravated even more for high-tech and R&D-intensive firms that face higher costs of capital than firms in other industries, caused by the uncertainty of the outcome of R&D activities (Hall, 2002). In summary, through the Entrepreneurial Finance lens, mismatches in demand and supply explain the presence of a funding gap, which is defined as the difference between capital that would be invested under perfect information and the actual amount invested (Wilson et al., 2018).

Entrepreneurial Finance uses these constructs of agency and pecking-order theory to additionally explain different funding needs and options along the life cycle of entrepreneurial ventures (Fraser et al., 2015; H. D. Kang, 2018). When a firm is still in its early stage in terms of age and size, it relies more heavily on insider and angel finance. As the firm grows it gains more experience and becomes less informationally opaque, giving it more access to intermediated finance from VCs, banks, or other financing companies (A. N. Berger & Udell, 1998). Entrepreneurial Finance acknowledges that young firms not only seek to access external funding, but also other resources such as human capital, know-how, reputation, and legitimacy (Cumming et al., 2019).

3.1.3 Performance Measurement

The goal of any capital investment is to spur performance that creates value in the investee firm. Performance can be measured in very different ways and is a proxy for a firm's success. Extant entrepreneurial finance literature has pointed out this methodological issue of measuring performance in young ventures in general (Bonini et al., 2019). In the specific case of DBFs that lack sales and profitability for many years of their existence, this challenge is even greater. The vastly different approaches by previous studies mirrors the complexity of defining success in the biotech field. Bertoni and Tykvová (2015) define performance as inventions and innovations, measured by patent stock of a company and citation-weighted patent stock respectively. Similarly, an investigation of the Swedish and Danish biotech cluster regards performance as firm output measured by active projects and patents per employee, normalizing for different firm size (Valentin et al., 2008). Others measure performance through biotechs' market value, calculated by the product of the firm's outstanding shares and its share price (McCutchen & Swamidass, 1996). Financial performance in terms of revenue and profit is broadly used in evaluating firm performance (Pasayat et al., 2022).

The EE and Entrepreneurial Finance perspective emphasizes entrepreneurial and commercial success, rather than knowledge creation or inventive productivity. Thus, we decide on sales growth and employee growth as performance metrics going forward. We specifically decide against patents for our dependent variable, as they are oftentimes a prerequisite for receiving funding in the first place (Hoenig & Henkel, 2015). A growth metric offers the benefit of being able to compare performance across different firm sizes and is considered a key indicator especially for young firms in an entrepreneurial context. Further it has been found that Sweden, in particular, faces a growth challenge in regards to its biotech sector (Carlsson, 2002), making it all the more important to understand drivers of growth. Finally, we focus on an entrepreneurial framework in which growth is generally a common objective. This measure has further been used in similar studies on regional biotech hubs (Ahmed & Cozzarin, 2009).

Positive sales indicate a firm's ability to produce and commercialize viable products or services. Sales growth is hence broadly accepted as an indicator for a firm's success and remains one of the most important metrics for firm valuation (Barringer et al., 2005; Bratic et al., 2014). It has additionally been claimed to be the most significant estimator for DBF valuation (Hsiang-Ling Chen et al., 2013). Especially for firms lacking a track record of profits and consistent book values, sales are considered an important indicator by investors (Bertoni et al., 2013). Yet, considering the idiosyncrasies of the biotech field, where sales often take substantial time to materialize, sales growth alone does not suffice. We therefore also include the development of the number of employees as a non-financial performance indicator. Extant literature has explored this metric's relationship with funding from different sources in the

high-tech start-up field (Bertoni et al., 2011; Grilli & Murtinu, 2014). Some capital providers, specifically those offering public funding, usually follow less financially driven objectives. Governments for instance strive to strengthen the local economy through job creation (Grilli & Murtinu, 2014; Manigart et al., 2002). These non-financial objectives are thus captured by employee growth. The combination of both sales and employee growth has been studied by Bertoni et al. (2013), who argue that they are positively correlated when transaction costs are high and product-specific skills are required. These conditions apply to the biotech field.

3.1.4 Synthesis of Conceptual Framework

The EE and Entrepreneurial Finance streams are jointly employed to make sense of the funding ties between DBFs and capital providers in the entrepreneurial ecosystem. The EE perspective provides the tool to define the level of analysis – the regionally bound biotech field in Sweden including ties between DBFs and other stakeholders. Adding the Entrepreneurial Finance perspective zooms in on funding and allows for a consideration of the individual capital providers in terms of their motives, engagements, but also limitations. Through this conceptual framework we understand the DBF and the external capital providers as the main actors that interact with one another through a funding tie. With the focus on funding events, this relationship inherently includes the flows of funds. Yet on top of that, the ties differ in the degree of complementary resource exchange. Both the literature on EE and Entrepreneurial Finance account for the importance of complementary resources, including knowledge sharing, access to human capital, funding, a supporting infrastructure and market access (Cumming et al., 2019; Feldman et al., 2019; Vedula & Kim, 2019). The provision of both financial and nonfinancial resources aims to create value in the target DBF and hence influences the DBF's performance. Reality, however, is more complex. Market inefficiencies and supply and demand dynamics constrain the actual funding landscape. Entrepreneurial Finance allows us to understand these constraints and make sense of why certain funding types are more applicable and hence more successful at different stages of a DBF's life cycle. In summary, we evaluate different funding relationships and their effect on performance measured by sales and employee growth, based on their ability to provide access to complementary resources while considering market inefficiencies leading to financial constraints.

3.2 Literature Review and Hypotheses Formulation

In formulating the hypotheses, we explore what previous studies have found and derive expectations based on the theoretical concepts. As a starting point, we take the overarching relationship between the total number of funding ties and firm performance and then proceed to consider the contingent performance effect of different types of funding. In the biotech context, some specific sources of funding have been studied in more detail than others, yet with frequently mixed and contradicting findings, which we want to examine. These are funding from the government, corporate alliances, and VCs. Further we focus on a comparison of international and domestic ties. Through the following hypotheses we seek to disentangle the actual relationship of funding types and firm performance in terms of growth.

3.2.1 Total Funding Ties and Firm Performance

As stated previously, access to funding is a key success factor for a DBF (Bertoni & Randone, 2004; Gilding et al., 2020; Lazonick & Tulum, 2011). Although through our theoretical perspective, the impact of a tie is influenced by its strength driven by the level of resource exchange, the mere presence of funding ties can have strong signaling power and likely a positive effect on the firm's performance. Entrepreneurial Finance literature has found the number of investors and number of funding rounds to be positively correlated with firm performance (Pasayat et al., 2022). The number of investors is argued to convey to potential investors that the firm has a viable product or service. It is said that the ability to raise capital alone acts as a visible signal of achievement that positively influences later funding rounds, of which young, growth-oriented ventures typically require several (Bonini & Capizzi, 2019). Shane and Cable (2002) argue that ties provide access to information and hence help in overcoming information symmetry. As information asymmetry is one of the major constraints to an optimal funding supply (Fraser et al., 2015), a reduction thereof is advantageous. Consequently, it is believed that overall venture funding into the firm is increased, leading it on a path to success. On the contrary, Sorenson and Stuart (2001) address the common notion that it is not getting the money, it is who the money comes from. While we do not expect a negative relationship between funding ties and performance, we do not know how strong a possible positive effect might be. Hence, the first and most general hypothesis postulates that a higher number of funding ties is positively correlated with DBF performance.

H1: DBFs with a higher number of funding ties are more likely to perform better than DBFs with fewer funding ties

3.2.2 Funding from the Government and Firm Performance

Funding from the government is referred to as public finance. Typically, governments provide funding in the form of grants, debt (soft-loans), and increasingly also public equity through government VCs (GVC) (Grilli & Murtinu, 2014). The funding motives of governments are different from private actors and include exploiting public benefits and reducing prevalent equity funding gaps (Manigart et al., 2002). Public entities typically value social returns including job creation, innovation production, and economic growth higher than mere financial return. It is argued that governments are more willing to invest in high-risk, early-stage ventures and hold on to them longer, as they de-prioritize financial return (Grilli & Murtinu, 2014). Public funding can be seen as the required ignition for the emergence and development of highly innovative, future growth sectors. The US with its *National Institutes of Health* (NIH) is often praised as an example of successful government funding. Its public research funding has managed to significantly spur new firm growth, creating an "innovation ecosystem" that makes up the successful biotech sector in the US (Ferguson & Johnson Langer, 2021; Kolympiris et al., 2014).

Generally, public funding strives to compensate the short-term orientation of private funding and aims to strengthen long-term growth (Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). The government acts to correct the market failure caused by private investors' reluctancy to invest in young and high-risk ventures. Also, governments aim to incentivize the focus on targeting the global disease burden, which might otherwise not be financially or commercially attractive (Toth, 2013). The development of the Covid-19 vaccine has demonstrated how governments act to fill funding gaps when risk is high, where 98% of the investments provided for R&D purposes came from public funding (McCarthy, 2021). Government funding is provided both directly and indirectly (Klofsten & Lindholm-Dahlstrand, 2000; Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). Direct innovation financing is provided by soft-loans or grants. A study by Hottentott and Richtstein (2020) finds that high-tech manufacturing startups in Germany, who received grant funding, showed stronger growth performance compared to non-subsidized firms. Çetindamar and Laage-Hellman (2003) find that different government funds play an important role in providing capital at early stages of new ventures, when other sources of financing, such as equity or debt, fall short. Hence government funds are crucial in

closing the funding gap young DBFs experience in seed and early-stage funding rounds. Public financial backing further has a strong signaling effect to other external investors. Consequently, a DBF with funding from the government may attract subsequent funding from other investors, namely VCs (M. Berger & Hottenrott, 2021). Söderblom (2015) demonstrates that the follow-on access to capital after public funding in the Swedish market has a positive impact on long-term firm performance. Indirect measures from the government can take the form of policy and tax reformations aimed at incentivizing and facilitating the investment into biotech firms by other financial actors (Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). These indirect measures are not focus of this thesis and are only mentioned for the sake of completeness.

As a downside, governments lack the industrial experience and cannot provide managerial support to DBFs (Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). Comparisons of GVCs with IVCs show that GVC backed DBFs do not perform better in terms of innovation (Bertoni & Tykvová, 2015) or growth (Grilli & Murtinu, 2014). Yet the same studies find the combined effect of both GVC and IVC to have a positive performance impact, indicating governmental finance is an effective complement to IVCs, but not a substitute. A study on DBF survival rates finds that firms backed by larger, more reputable GVCs are more likely to survive than their counterparts backed by IVCs (Manigart et al., 2002). However, firms backed by smaller, less-established GVCs are less likely to survive. The study argues that the role of acquired expertise helps the older GVCs in their tasks of selecting, supporting, and monitoring DBFs. Others have suggested that the government as a capital provider lacks efficiency and business performance incentives (Colombo et al., 2016) that could have negative impacts for a firm's success.

It is true that government funding does not provide the same level of resource access or managerial support as VCs or corporate alliances do. However, it acts as a signal and as a complement to other ecosystem actors and plays a crucial role in overcoming the funding gap in early venture stages. The second hypothesis aims to test the strength of the relationship between government funding and DBF performance.

H2: DBFs funded by the government are more likely to perform better than DBFs that are not

3.2.3 Funding from Corporate Alliances and Firm Performance

Many DBFs engage in various arrangements of strategic alliances with established companies in the EE that are not primarily financial institutions. There are different types of

partner constellations, namely biotech-biotech and biotech-pharma alliances (Gay & Dousset, 2005). The former has been less significant, but is becoming more prominent (Filson & Morales, 2006). Most of the discussion has focused on the alliances with bigger, more established pharmaceutical firms. These firms usually invest into younger, promising DBFs for strategic reasons and the opportunity to access technological assets (Hellmann, 2002; Röhm et al., 2018). Moreover, the forms of alliance arrangements between companies range from informal relationships to various licensing, marketing, and supply chain relationships as well as equity joint ventures (Dushnitsky & Lenox, 2005; Zidorn & Wagner, 2013).

Corporate Venture Capital (CVC) is a commonly explored type of corporate alliance funding, which involves a larger, more established company taking a minority equity stake in a new venture. CVC investors seek financial returns through IPOs or sales of the ventures they are invested in (P. Gompers & Lerner, 1998). McCutchen et al. (1996) highlight collaborative research revenue as an important R&D funding source for DBFs. This type of funding is based on a long-term strategic agreement between an emerging biotech company and a more established, bigger pharmaceutical company. These corporate investors contribute additional commercialization capabilities in the form of know-how on product development and marketing campaigning, as well as experience with the application processes to the regulatory agencies (Bratic et al., 2014).

Gilding et al. (2020) state that collaborative ties with other network actors provide access to complementary resources and sources for organizational learning. Powell et al. (1996) also claim that DBFs use ties to access knowledge and resources, finding a positive link between R&D alliances and growth. Investments from holding companies similarly provide access to complementary resources, increasing chances of survival and success (Park & Steensma, 2013). In comparing CVC investments to independent VC (IVC) investments, several researchers find that DBFs backed by CVCs are more successful (Alvarez-Garrido & Dushnitsky, 2016; Shuwaikh & Dubocage, 2022). The provided reasoning for this result is that corporate investors hold important domain expertise and provide a DBF with access to important complementary resources that are relevant to the development of biotech solutions. Stuart et al. (1999) claim that young DBFs affiliated with established companies within their ecosystem are perceived to be endorsed and expected to perform better. Their results show that privately held DBFs with strategic partnerships and organizational equity investors go to IPO faster and are valued higher. In other words, interorganizational alliances offer external legitimacy to young DBFs, which signals value to other investors. The overwhelming evidence points to a positive relationship between funding through collaborative alliances with corporates and firm performance.

H3: DBFs funded by corporate alliances are more likely to perform better than DBFs without

3.2.4 Funding from VCs and Firm Performance

Venture Capital (VC) funds are oftentimes limited partnerships that pool capital from funds or wealthy individuals (Dushnitsky & Shapira, 2010) and invest in high-risk ventures with the goal of achieving financial return (Shuwaikh & Dubocage, 2022). VCs are actively involved in firm management, set up complex financing contracts and often define their exit pathways already at the point of investment (P. A. Gompers & Lerner, 1999). Venture capital is thought to be an expensive form of finance with required rates of return between 15 - 45% (Manigart et al., 1997). VCs add value by providing complementary resources such as coaching, mentoring, and access to third parties (Brinster & Tykvová, 2021). Typically, VCs target midstage to late-stage deals (Drover et al., 2017). In the EU the average VC deal size into biotech and pharma in 2021 was at €8.3 billion (PitchBook Data, Inc., 2022). What is more, VCbacking is perceived as a strong signal of endorsement to other investors, given VC firms' extensive screening and monitoring efforts (Grilli & Murtinu, 2014).

VC funding is one of the most examined sources of external finance. The presence of dedicated VC funds has been shown to be a prerequisite for biotech industry growth (Arantes-Oliveira, 2007). The nature of VCs and their active engagement in the management of the invested firm in particular is believed to have a positive impact on firm survival (Bertoni & Randone, 2004). A study by Sapienza (1992) found that VCs add the most value to an entrepreneurial venture when contact between the two actors is frequent and open. Many other researchers argue similarly that a VC's effort to help its portfolio firm solve managerial challenges is the essence of its distinct contribution to firm success (Çetindamar & Laage-Hellman, 2003; Klofsten & Lindholm-Dahlstrand, 2000). In contrast, Manigart et al. (2002) find that VC backed firms in the Belgian biotech sector have a lower probability of survival than non VC backed firms. The researchers explain that this might be due to the adverse selection problem in which successful companies are already financed by other, less expensive types of funding. Moreover, a VC's objective to maximize value in high growth settings across

their entire portfolio also implies high levels of risk, which in turn entails higher likelihood of bankruptcy of individual firms (Manigart et al., 2002). A potentially negative performance effect might, in other words, result from VC's placing riskier investments. Another research finds that UK-based DBFs with VC funding are less successful than those funded through the stock market (Hopkins et al., 2013). While pointing out that these results do not infer superiority of funding through IPOs over funding from VCs, the researchers argue that this result may be explained by VC's lack in selectivity of their investments. To sum up, previous studies have shown different degrees of impacts of VC funding in the biotech setting. To reach more clarity on the effect we test for the hypothesis that VC funding is associated with increased DBF performance.

H4: DBFs funded by VCs are more likely to perform better than DBFs that are not

3.2.5 Funding from International Capital Providers and Firm Performance

With our last hypothesis, we want to evaluate the effect of funding ties that transcend national borders. Literature thereby commonly examines the mere fact that funding comes from abroad and does not distinguish between the type of capital provider. Generally, geographic proximity is thought to spur the transfer of tacit knowledge, which warrants ecosystem positions close to other important actors as more favorable (DeCarolis & Deeds, 1999). DBFs historically locate themselves in proximity to public research organizations to reap benefits from knowledge-spillovers, which foster the build-up of regionally concentrated clusters (Gilding, 2008). The inherently high information asymmetries and monitoring costs can be minimized by investors in focusing on local investments. Some research has empirically supported the superiority of a regional focus regarding funding access. Powell et al. (2002) find a strong geographic concentration of DBFs and VC funding in the US. Specifically in the case of funding from CVCs, there is evidence that geographic proximity facilitates access to complementary resources which has a positive effect on innovative production of the DBF (Shuwaikh & Dubocage, 2022). Kolympiris et al. (2011) argue that DBFs can reap performance benefits in regional clusters through access to scarce specialized labor markets, knowledge diffusion, and network effects. Another study finds that foreign VC funding decreases the likelihood of success given that distance hampers effective communication and information sharing (Humphery-Jenner & Suchard, 2013). The setting of this study is China, a country in which social connection matters, which could explain the amplified effect.

Opposingly, a study on the Korean biotechnology market finds that those firms with international ties achieve better performance in terms of innovation than firms with domestic ties only (K.-N. Kang & Park, 2012). The authors note that this may apply especially to regions with less advanced private investment options, where it is advantageous to seek funding abroad. Similarly, a study on young high-tech firms shows that foreign equity ownership through VCs and PEs from abroad can facilitate access to external finance (Corsi & Prencipe, 2017). It is argued that foreign investors may reduce information asymmetries and provide a signal of endorsement, with a positive impact on further funding and a means to closing the funding gap (Harrison & McMillan, 2003). Especially for high-tech clusters it is additionally argued that non-local collaborations represent an important source of production and commercialization resources, as well as know-how that is lacking locally (Oinas & Malecki, 2002; Rees, 2005). A study looking at the Swedish biotech sector similarly reports that DBFs employ a mix of local, national, and international collaborative ties (McKelvey et al., 2003). This study, however, does not investigate the performance effect of these ties but rather takes a descriptive approach. In summary, both the limited insight into the local conditions of the Swedish biotech ecosystem and the contradicting results previously reported warrant further investigation of the relationship between international ties and performance. The fifth hypothesis tests whether international funding ties are associated with a higher likelihood of better performance.

H5: DBFs funded by international capital providers are more likely to perform better than DBFs without

4. Method

In this section we describe the research method chosen for this thesis. First, we describe the reasoning behind the selection of the approach and discuss the fit to the purpose and research question (4.1). Next, we elaborate on the empirical setting (4.2) and elaborate on the data (4.3) and the sample (4.4). We then report the findings from the pre-study (4.5), which are required to define the variables and their measurements (4.6) and our analytical methods (4.7).

4.1 Methodological Fit

The purpose of this thesis is to study the effect of different funding types on DBF performance. The funding landscape in the context of biotech is a previously studied topic. We

use a deductive approach in testing a combination of developed concepts from theory on EE and Entrepreneurial Finance. As the state of prior research can be described as mature, a focused hypothesis testing approach is appropriate (Edmondson & Mcmanus, 2007). Using a comparative and quantitative approach based on secondary data, we statistically test the correlation relationship between different funding types and DBF performance. We conduct our examination both at the biotechnology ecosystem-level as well as the firm-level and take a longitudinal approach.

4.2 Empirical Setting

Following Feldman et al. (2019), this thesis conceives of EEs as specific to a geographic context (Sweden) and industry (medical biotechnology). Thus, our setting is defined as the Swedish biotech field. Analyses of other fields, such as real estate (Vigren, 2022) or fintech (Alaassar et al., 2022), and university campuses (Miller & Acs, 2017; Siegel & Wright, 2015), through this perspective validate the approach. Several previous studies have similarly set out to examine the distinct geographic ecosystem of the biotech field (Casper, 2007; McKelvey et al., 2003; Rees, 2005; Trippl & Tödtling, 2007).

Sweden's biotech field is internationally renowned and has been recently ranked second in the *Worldview national ranking of health biotech sectors*, following Switzerland and preceding the United States (Hodgson & Schreiber-Gregory, 2022). Sweden is home to many successful DBFs. In terms of the number of biotech or pharma companies among the leading 1,000 companies among the EU countries, Sweden ranks 4th (Grassano et al., 2020). Regional clusters of DBFs have grown in proximity to universities, namely the Stockholm-Uppsala region, Gothenburg, Lund, Linköping and Umeå (Carlsson, 2002). Historically, the local biopharmaceutical field was dominated by *Astra* and *Pharmacia*. While the merger of *Astra* with *Zeneca* and the acquisition of *Pharmacia* by *Pfizer* meant that Sweden lost two important headquarters, these developments also positioned Sweden well in the global arena (Garcia, 2019).

Previously, it has been pointed out that while Sweden has a high firm birth rate, the country struggles to achieve growth (Carlsson, 2002). The main reason for this has been the lack of competent and specialized investors, constraining DBFs in their growth potential. In a rection to that, the funding landscape has become increasingly sophisticated. The last decade has seen the capital market for high-technology firms such as DBFs become more mature. Especially

since the early 2000s, new financial actors have entered and shaped the market, providing more volumes of diversified forms of capital (Karaomerlioglu & Jacobsson, 2000). The Swedish government recognizes biotechnology as a growth engine and calls for increased efforts of funding its development (Regeringskansliet, 2000). Substantial investments made into research, infrastructure, and innovation programs by the government show its continued commitment to the development of the field (SwedenBIO, 2020). Hence, we believe this setting to be highly interesting to investigate further.

4.3 Data

4.3.1 Event Dataset

This thesis leverages an existing dataset compiled throughout a parallel research project funded by *Vinnova* (Sweden's innovation agency) on the topic of *financing biotech to meet challenges similar to Covid*. The dataset has been collected by a dedicated research team over the course of five years. It contains a unique and proprietary collection of transactional event data covering the period between 2004 and 2013. Event data is defined as an interaction between any of the 353 DBFs in the total sample and another actor in the ecosystem. Actors can be other DBFs, biomedical or pharmaceutical firms, universities, institutional investors, regulatory institutions, or commercial actors, located both in Sweden and abroad. The events are pre-categorized into several different layers of ties. These layers include financial, commercial, organizational, regulatory, as well as R&D, marketing, & licensing ties. There are in total 3,458 partners and 8,966 ties captured. This dataset is rich in detail and offers granular data on the different capital providers and types of funding.

This dataset is leveraged as it offers unique documentation of all occurred financial transactions of Swedish DBFs between 2004-2013 in great detail. We acknowledge that using secondary data has the disadvantage of a lack of guarantee of data quality and an outdatedness of the data (Bryman, 2012). This dataset is limited in terms of the timespan over which the data points were collected. On the one hand, we lack more recent data capturing the period from 2013 up until today. Entrepreneurial Finance literature has repeatedly highlighted that the capital market has recently seen a number of new players entering the field (Block et al., 2018). These more recent developments and potential new dynamics are not captured in the dataset. As part of the original research project, these more recent data points will be collected to include events up to 2019. However, this work has not been completed yet and the lengthy data

collection process did not allow for a primary data collection for this thesis. On the other hand, we lack the funding events that occurred before 2004, which might still have an influence on performance in subsequent years. Nevertheless, we see great value in investigating the available information as it offers a cost and time efficient opportunity to look at the longitudinal evolvement of funding in the Swedish biotech ecosystem (Bryman, 2012). Further, this dataset provides data, to the best of our knowledge, not previously or otherwise available for analysis. Given the official backing by *Vinnova*, the capabilities of a qualified, full-time research team that gathered the data, and having received thorough explanations of the entire data collection process, we believe the quality of the data to be of the highest quality.

4.3.2 Financial Data

We further sourced a range of public databases for financial information on the DBFs in the sample. The main source of information is the *SERRANO*¹ database by the Swedish House of Finance. Additionally, the databases *Retriever Business*², *Bisnode*³, and *Valu8*⁴ were accessed to cross-check and complete the data. This data-triangulation adds to the overall reliability (Bryman, 2012). Finally, the Swedish Companies Registration Office, *Bolagsverket*⁵, was accessed to retrieve information on firm registration and deregistration date, as well as the reasons for deregistration. The collected data was pooled, cleaned, and normalized to retrieve all DBF related information in terms of age, exit pathways, and employee and sales numbers. We include datapoints over the period of 2004 to 2015 to represent performance developments with a two-year time lag after the final year of funding tie observations in 2013.

4.4 Sample

The sample investigated for this thesis consists of 313 DBFs. These 313 DBFs represent the share of the entire population of 353 DBFs in Sweden as of 2011 that have funding ties to other stakeholders during the period of 2004-2013. The entire population of Swedish DBFs was defined for the *Vinnova*-funded project team at the start of the data collection process in 2011 and DBFs that were founded after 2011 are therefore not part of the sample. Compared

¹ <u>https://www.hhs.se/en/houseoffinance/data-center/serrano/</u>

² www.retrievergroup.com/sv/business-suite

³ Now part of Dun & Bradstreet: <u>www.dnb.com/sv-se/</u>

⁴ www.valu8group.com

⁵ <u>www.bolagsverket.se</u>

to many other studies in the field of biotech, which examine only publicly listed companies (Bertoni & Randone, 2004; Stuart et al., 2007), the analyses in this thesis are based on a sample of Swedish DBFs that includes both publicly listed and private companies. This provides the advantage of giving a more holistic picture of the industry, as well as gathering insights on early life cycle stages of the firms which are especially sensitive to funding.

Based on average sales and employee data over the entire period from 2004 to 2015 and age at the year of 2015, the DBFs are categorized into "small" (employees < 10; sales < SEK 1 million), "medium" (employees 10–50; sales SEK 1 million – SEK 10 million) or "large" (employees > 50; sales > SEK 10 million), and into "start-up" (0-5 years), "early-stage" (6-10 years), "middle-stage" (11-15 years), "late-stage" (16-20 years) and "matured" (20+ years). The classification was chosen based on discussions with the project leader of the original *Vinnova*-funded project with the goal to be most representative of the underlying sample. Over the period between 2004-2015, 68 DBFs changed their status from active to inactive. Of these, 42 are exits due to liquidations or bankruptcies, which we consider failed firms. 26 DBFs have been involved in M&A deals, which are seen as an indication of success. Table 1 provides a summary of the DBFs in terms of age and size.

	DBF Count
AGE	
Start-up	1
Early-stage	81
Middle-stage	105
Late-stage	55
Mature	71
SIZE	
Small	110
Medium	112
Large	91
Grand Total	313

|--|

4.5 Pre-Study

This pre-study has both a methodological and a theoretical argument. In order to define the measures and variables needed for this thesis' purpose of evaluating the performance effects of different funding types, we first need to investigate which funding ties make up the Swedish

biotech capital market. Previous literature proposes that the most discussed sources of funding in biotech are the government, VCs, corporate alliances, and foreign investors. Hence, we want to verify whether the event dataset confirms these ties to be the most relevant in this setting too. Further, as we sourced a secondary dataset which was initially collected for other purposes, it is necessary to study the dataset extensively to be able to correctly extract the required information for the sake of this research. In the following we offer a definition of funding ties that fits the conceptual framework of this thesis and outline how we recoded the data accordingly (4.5.1). Thereafter we provide an overview of the funding ties across the period of study (4.5.2), as well as a more detailed examination of the funding composition for different firm ages and sizes (4.5.3). Descriptive statistics and graphical representation of the data are generated using Microsoft Excel and illustrate patterns and trends.

4.5.1 Definition of Funding Ties

The chosen theoretical framework puts an emphasis on the relationship between actors in an ecosystem (EE) and the motives and traits of different capital providers (Entrepreneurial Finance). Thus, our level of analysis entails the funding tie between a DBF and an external capital provider. We define funding ties as external funding provided from a capital provider to a DBF with the general purpose of product development and commercialization. The initial dataset is based on a broader definition and further includes other non-funding related ties. We thus recoded the data to map the funding ties onto our definition. Through regular interviews with the members of the original research project, specifically with the data analyst, we ensured full understanding and correct interpretation of the data. For each of the data entries relevant to our understanding of a funding event, we extracted information on the DBF, the capital provider, as well as the form of finance (equity, debt, grant, or royalty & milestone payments). Capital providers were further recoded into categories that match the required granularity and common practice employed in previous research.

As there are slightly different definitions as to what constitutes a funding relationship, we want to comment on the boundaries we draw. Initial public offerings (IPOs) and merger & acquisitions (M&A) have been previously interpreted both as exit routes (Lazonick & Tulum, 2011), or funding types. While arguably M&A deals are a type of funding, the capital is not directly provided for product development and commercialization, but rather for the acquirer's goal of strategically accessing biotech competences or resources (McCutchen & Swamidass, 1996). There are differences in the size of ownership stakes acquired, the nature of the take-

over (friendly or hostile), and the degree of integration into the acquiring firm. We acknowledge that a DBF could undergo an M&A deal solely for the purpose of financing its core business, while operating as independently as before (Lindholm-Dahlstrand, 2000; Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). Yet as these cases are occasional, we will regard all M&A deals as a successful exit route and not as a source of funding. On the other hand, an IPO is here classified as a type of funding, in that capital is provided from the stock market for the ongoing operations as an independent DBF. We accordingly side with Hopkins et al. (2013) in classifying stock market funding through IPOs as a funding tie and M&A deals as an exit. After these data transformations, 1,349 funding ties remain, enacted between 313 DBFs and 474 distinct partners from a total of 13 types of funding.

4.5.2 Overview of Funding Landscape

We begin by introducing the entirety of types of funding employed in the Swedish biotech ecosystem. From the dataset we have information on each funding event, which reveals information on the specific form of finance employed (equity, debt, grants, or royalty & milestone payments). In table 2 we demonstrate the classification of funding ties according to both capital providers and form of finance. This chart reveals that each capital provider focuses on certain forms of finance. The count of ties shows that three sources of funding make up two thirds of all ties, each employing a major form of finance. These are 1) government funding in the form of grants, 2) corporate alliances in the form of royalty & milestone payments, and 3) VCs in the form of equity. These ties are also those most frequently discussed in research, as highlighted in the foregoing literature review and hypotheses formulation. The smallest contributors are founder, family & friends, banks, holding companies and the stock market. Business angels, accelerators, private equity (PE), and investment funds make up the middle field. A complete set of definitions of each funding type is provided in the appendix (9.1).

Canital Provider	Fauito	Grant	Daht	Royalty & Milestone	Total
	Lyuny		Debi	<u>1 uymenis</u>	10111
Government	2%	87%	12%	0%	434
Corporate Alliance	31%	5%	5%	59%	287
VC	78%	0%	22%	0%	185
Research Organization	53%	32%	14%	2%	66
Investment Fund	78%	5%	14%	3%	59
PE	64%	2%	34%	0%	59
Accelerators	33%	46%	19%	2%	54
Other	63%	4%	21%	12%	52

Business Angel	87%	0%	13%	0%	47
Holding Company	79%	3%	15%	3%	33
Stock Market	100%	0%	0%	0%	33
Bank	16%	4%	80%	0%	25
Founder, Family & Friends	67%	0%	27%	7%	15
					1349

Table 2 - Funding Ties per Capital Provider and their Employed Form of Finance

We continue by examining the development of the total number of funding ties over the entire period of investigation from 2004 to 2013. Figure 1 visualizes the ties by different capital providers. Looking at the entirety of ties, an interruption of the previously strong growth trend in total number of ties can be observed following the financial crisis in 2008. In the following years, the total number of ties stays rather constant yet at lower levels than seen in the years preceding the crisis. Changes in government funding are thereby the driving force of the overall development.



Figure 1 – Total Count of Funding Ties by Capital Provider

Figure 2 shows the ties distinguished by form of finance (equity, debt, grant, royalty & milestone payments). The chart quantifies that equity and grant financing are the two biggest forms of finance. They fluctuate throughout the period and contribute on average 39% (equity) and 33% (grant) of total funding ties. Interestingly, these two forms of finance show opposite development trends especially in times of crisis. Debt and licensing payments make up each only around 15% of total funding ties.



4.5.3 Funding Ties of the Sample DBFs

Among the sample of 313 DBFs, 123 (39%) have leveraged 1-5 funding ties over the period from 2004-2013. Another 54 (17%) have enacted 6-10 ties, 20 (6%) DBFs count 11-15 ties, while only 17 (5%) count more than 15 ties. The highest number of ties observed for one DBF is 32 funding ties. There are 99 (32%) DBFs with no funding events captured in the period of observation. Figure 3 visualizes the frequency of ties among the sample in a histogram.



Figure 3 - Histogram of Frequency of the Count of Total Funding Ties

Table 3 provides an overview of the distribution of different funding ties among the DBFs in the Swedish biotech ecosystem. We employ the approach used by Berger & Udell (1998) to distinguish the various DBFs in terms of size and age. We employ the same age and size

Total		111		536		372		149		181			634		347		368		1349
Other		2	2%	14	3%	21	6%9	11	7%	4	2%		30	5%	12	3%	10	3%	52
Founder, Family & Friends		1	1%	8	1%	3	1%	1	1%	2	1%		8	2%	5	1%	2	1%	15
Bank		3	3%	9	1%	6	2%	5	3%	2	1%		5	1%	10	2%	10	3%	25
Holding Company		0	0%0	14	3%	11	3%	2	1%	9	3%		14	3%	12	3%	7	2%	33
Stock Market		0	0%0	5	1%	13	3%	2	1%	13	7%		8	2%	14	3%	11	3%	33
Business Angel		9	5%	14	3%	22	6%9	4	3%	1	1%		25	5%	14	3%	8	2%	47
Acceler- ator		4	4%	28	5%	16	4%	4	3%	2	1%		22	4%	26	6%9	9	2%	54
PE		6	8%	17	3%	15	4%	7	5%	11	6%9		40	8%	13	3%	9	2%	59
Investme nt Fund		6	8%	10	2%	31	8%	4	3%	5	3%		18	3%	21	5%	20	6%9	59
Research Org.		11	10%	35	7%	19	5%	0	0%	1	1%		43	8%	17	4%	9	2%	99
VC		28	25%	92	17%	55	15%	5	3%	5	3%		107	21%	68	16%	10	3%	185
Corporate Alliance		3	3%	76	14%	49	13%	68	46%	91	50%		54	10%	59	14%	174	51%	287
Govern- ment		35	32%	217	40%	108	29%	36	24%	38	21%		176	34%	177	41%	81	24%	434
	AGE	5	dn-1701C	Early-	stage	Middle-	stage	Late-	stage		Mature	SIZE	C11	Small		Medium	,	тагде	Grand Total

definitions as in the description of the sample, using the age at year 2015 and average sales and employee numbers over the entire period from 2004–2015.

Table 3 – DBF Age & Size per Capital Provider

Age categorization: "small" (employees < 10; revenue < SEK 1 million), "medium" (employees 10-50; revenue SEK 1 million – SEK 10 mil.); size categorization: "large" (employees > 50; revenue > SEK 10 million), and to "start-up" (0-5 years), "early-stage" (6-10 years), "middle-stage" (11-15 years), "late-stage" (16-20 years) and "matured" (20+ years).

The following figures visualize the data from table 4, beginning with a focus on different age and then size groups. Figure 4 shows the relative split of funding ties per capital provider in the different age categories of the DBFs. This shows that government funding is more heavily used when a firm is younger. As government funding decreases with firm age, funding from corporate alliances grows. Once a firm is matured, this is the most important source of capital, making up 50% of funding ties. VC funding, like government funding, weighs more heavily in early phases of the company's life cycle. Stock market funding through IPOs only come into play when the firm is around 10 years old. Comparable patterns can be observed when distinguishing between firm sizes, as shown in figure 5.





Figure 5 – Funding Ties per Capital Provider at Different Firm Sizes

In a similar manner we look at the composition of forms of finance in each age and size group of the DBFs. Table 4 provides the tabular summarization of the split and figures 6 and 7 picture the relative distribution. Royalty and milestone payments clearly increase in relative contribution to total funding both with DBF age and size. Equity is very important in younger and smaller DBFs and shows a decreasing trend with growing maturity. Regarding age, we see a spark in the relative contribution of equity for middle-aged DBFs, where this form of finance accounts for 52% of all funding ties. Grants play a consistently important role with slight fluctuations around 30-40% for both age and size observations. Debt is interestingly a relevant contributor already from early stages on, yet only makes up 10-20% of overall funding.

	Eauity	Grant	Debt	Royalty & Milestone Payments	Total
AGE					
G (51	34	23	1	109
Start-up	47%	31%	21%	1%	
E subs stars s	199	231	85	21	536
Early-stage	37%	43%	16%	4%	
Middle stage	194	106	51	23	374
miaule-siuge	52%	28%	14%	6%	
Late stage	46	28	23	52	149
Luie-siuge	31%	19%	15%	35%	
Matura	35	45	17	84	181
	19%	25%	9%	46%	
SIZE					
Small	281	165	91	13	550
2	51%	30%	17%	2%	
Madium	149	196	72	31	448
meatum	33%	44%	16%	7%	
I anao	95	83	36	137	351
Large	27%	24%	10%	39%	
Grand Total	525	444	199	181	1349

Table 4 – DBF Age & Size Distribution per Form of Finance




Figure 7 – Funding Ties per Form of Finance at Different Firm Sizes

Table 5 shows the split of international and domestic ties in the dataset, differentiated according to capital provider. We see that in total domestic ties are employed almost three times as often as international ties. Among the three biggest capital providers, VC ties are the least international (6%). Government funding has an international footprint of 33%. Funding through corporate alliances shows a split of approximately 50/50 between domestic and international ties.

Capital Provider	Domestic	International	Grand Total
Government	293	141	434
Corporate Alliance	146	141	287
VC	174	11	185
Research Organization	60	6	66
Investment Fund	51	8	59
PE	53	6	59
Accelerator	52	2	54
Other	40	12	52
Business Angel	42	5	47
Stock Market	32	1	33
Holding Company	32	1	33
Bank	24	1	25
Founder, Family & Friends	15	0	15
Grand Total	1014	335	1349

Table 5 - Split of International and Domestic Ties per Capital Provider

In conclusion, the pre-study confirms the most prevalent types of funding to be provided from the government, corporate alliances, and VCs. We also see foreign funding to play an important role. Therefore, we now proceed to defining our variables and analytical procedures for the focus of this research project – the performance evaluation.

4.6 Measures & Variables

4.6.1 Dependent Variables

The dependent variable is the performance of DBFs. As our performance indicators, we measure the growth of the firm's sales figures and the growth of the number of employees. Considering this thesis' conceptual framework of EE and Entrepreneurial Finance, we are interested in entrepreneurial and commercial success, rather than knowledge creation or inventive productivity.

In assessing sales growth, this thesis employs the compounded annual growth rate of sales (CAGR) similar to a comparative study on the Australian biotech sector (Molloy et al., 2021). CAGR is calculated as the annualized growth rate of sales, using the formula below. EB is the ending balance, and BB is the beginning balance. These are measured within the respective study periods over the period of positive sales generation. The number of years over which CAGR is measured is indicated by n.

$$CAGR = \left(\frac{EB}{BB}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} - 1$$

For the employee growth metric, we calculate the annual average growth rate (AAGR). AAGR takes the average of a series of year-on-year growth rates, using the formula below.

$$AAGR = [(Growth Rate)_{\nu} + (Growth Rate)_{\nu+1} + (Growth Rate)_{\nu+n} + \cdots]/n$$

Growth Rate =
$$\left[\left(\frac{EB}{BB}\right) - 1\right] x \ 100$$

We use CAGR for the sales data as the high variance in the figures over the period would impact the AAGR significantly. In practice this approach is also commonly used in evaluating financial performance as it considers compounding effects (CFI, 2022). The employee figures develop more stable and hence the AAGR suffices. Both employee and sales growth are only calculated for those DBFs that show positive sales or employee numbers in 3 or more years in each of the periods. Fewer data points would not produce insightful growth indications. For a

comparison of different groups of DBFs in relation to average sales, we use the logarithm of sales to reduce the heteroscedasticity and hence variance in the data (Ermini & Hendry, 2008).

In general, we split the time horizon in two five-year-long periods (2004-2008; 2009-2013). This is done with the intention to measure performance effects more accurately. Further, the financial crisis occurred in 2008, which could impact the development of both funding events and performance in the second half of the period. 34 DBFs were founded only after 2006. For period 1, these were excluded, as we aim for at least 2 years of activity in the respective periods. For period 2 we exclude 18 DBFs that exited the market before 2011 and hence would not pass the threshold of 2 years of datapoints required. We calculate growth metrics over the 5 years per period plus two subsequent years. Including figures two years beyond the cut-off period allows for the time lag of performance effects to materialize. If, for instance, a DBF enacted a funding tie in 2013, it is expected to show in sales or employee growth only in the subsequent years and not immediately. The chosen duration is based on a study on the Swedish VC landscape, which found that investments take effect on sales growth 2-3 years after they were made (Tillväxtanalys, 2017). This lagged analysis approach has also been previously employed in other studies of similar settings (Ahmed & Cozzarin, 2009; Hottenrott & Richstein, 2020; Zidorn & Wagner, 2013).

4.6.2 Independent Variables

Based on the pre-study we have seen the entire range of funding types present in the Swedish setting. However, for the performance analysis we focus only on the most relevant external funding types, namely government funding, corporate alliance funding, and VC funding, as well as international funding. In classifying a tie to the relevant categories of inquiry, we focus on the different capital providers as the decisive characteristic. That means, that even if a capital provider (e.g., government) offers different forms of finance (e.g., both grants and debt), we count all ties with the government towards our independent variable (e.g., government funding).

Generally, in measuring the funding ties, dummy variables can be employed to capture whether a DBF has enacted a certain tie of interest or not. However, if and when a firm has a mix of multiple different ties over the period, a count of ties offers a more precise indication of the relative role a given type of funding may play. Through the ecosystem perspective, we believe this approach further to be more suitable as a higher number of funding ties also implies more potential for resource and knowledge access, with a subsequent impact on performance. Each variable is evaluated on the DBF-level and at an aggregate sum over each of the two subperiods from 2004-2008 and 2009-2013, as well as overall.

The independent variable government funding includes public funding from both Swedish, European, and foreign public institutions. In Sweden, some of the biggest providers are *Vinnova*⁶ and *Almi*⁷. The European Union also strongly engages in biotech funding through numerous framework programs⁸ (FPs) for research. Corporate Alliance Funding covers both biotech-biotech and biotech-pharma relationships. The types of capital providers involved in this category are other DBFs from within and outside the sample, as well as biomedical, big pharma, and life-science companies. VC funding includes all ties with independent VCs. International funding ties are those where the capital provider is based outside of Sweden. We thereby do not distinguish between capital providers.

4.6.3 Control Variables

It is important to account for the size and age of the firm in the regression models predicting firm performance. These two control variables we believe will also impact our performance metrics. Older and bigger DBFs will likely be perceived as more attractive investments from capital providers' point of view. To limit their influence on the dependent variable, we account for them in our regression models and hence improve internal validity (Bryman, 2012). We measure age from the year of registration of the DBF until the end of the respective study period and assign a categorical rank according to the thresholds used in the description of the sample (4.4): (1 - start-up, to 5 - mature). Size is operationalized as an ordered categorization ranging from 1 - smallest to 3 - biggest, also based on previously defined measures of average sales and employee count. As acknowledged in the introduction of the event dataset, we do not have a complete picture of the funding history of those DBFs that were founded prior to 2004. Controlling for age in our regression analysis helps us account for this limitation.

Table 6 provides a summary of our dependent, independent, and control variables.

Variable Name	Measurement	Hypothesis
DV-Sales-	CAGR of yearly sales volumes when sales > 0 for more	-
Growth	than 2 years	

⁶ <u>https://www.vinnova.se</u>

⁷ <u>https://www.almi.se</u>

⁸ <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/cros/content/research-projects-under-framework-programmes-0 en</u>

DV-Employee-	AAGR of yearly employee count when employee > 0	-
Growth	for more than 2 years	
IV-AllTies	Count of all funding ties	H1
IV-Gov	Count of funding ties with the government	H2
IV-Corp	Count of funding ties with corporate alliances	H3
IV-VC	Count of funding ties with VCs	H4
IV-Intl	Count of international funding ties	H5
SizeRank	Ordered rank from 1-3 based on employee and sales	-
Sizeitanik	thresholds	
AgeRank	Ordered rank from 1-5 based on DBF age	-

Table 6 - Measures and Definitions of Variables

4.7 Analytical Procedures

We initiate the performance evaluation by demonstrating some descriptive statistics and correlations among the variables. We then conduct a difference-in-means test on DBFs with and DBFs without financial ties. To test whether the differences in means between the variables under investigation between the two groups are statistically significant we conduct a two-sample or independent T-test. Both sales and employee growth are normally distributed and the variance between the two groups is similar, making this test an applicable one.

Finally, we run several ordinary-least-squares (OLS) regressions to estimate the effect of different types of funding on performance. The linear regression aims to predict the dependent variable (performance) as a linear function of the independent variable (funding type). The formula is provided below, where Y is the dependent variable, β_0 the intercept, β_1 the slope of the independent variable X_i , and ϵ the random error (Montgomery et al., 2021).

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_i + \epsilon$$

As derived from the literature review, funding from the government, corporate alliances, VCs, as well as international funding are the most prominent ties. These are the focus of the performance analysis. As the goal is not to compare the funding types directly to one another, we run separate regression models, each focusing on the presence of one funding type at a time. This approach also avoids issues of multi-collinearity (Montgomery et al., 2021). We further estimate different models for our two performance indicators: sales growth and employee growth. We add our control variables to each model to increase the accuracy of the explanatory power of the different variables. When running the regression analyses, we exclude those DBFs

that exited the market due to bankruptcy and liquidation as these are understood as firm failure. M&A cases are seen as a success and are included. We accept our hypotheses when the p-value is lower than 0.05, indicating a significant result. The coefficient estimate thereby indicates how strong a relationship between funding type and performance is, as well as in which direction (positive or negative) the variables correlate. The entire statistical analysis is conducted using the statistical program R-Studio.

5. Results

In this section we report the results of our performance analysis. This includes the descriptive statistics of variables (5.1) and the regression outcomes of the performance evaluation (5.2).

5.1 Descriptive Statistics of Variables

Table 7 shows the descriptive statistics including mean and standard deviation for all the employed variables as well as the correlation matrix. On average the DBFs in the sample achieve an overall growth in sales of 11.6% at a standard deviation of 35.3%. However, between period 1 and 2 these numbers differ substantially. Period 1 sees a sales growth of 21.7% and period 2 only of 3.1%. The realized employee growth is overall on average 1.9% with a variance of 28.8%. In period 1 employee numbers grow on average by 8.3%, while in period 2 they shrink by 8.3%. The sample has a mean number of 4.3 total ties and a standard deviation of 5.9 overall. The means of the specific types of funding range from 0.6 (VC) to 1.4 (government). Their standard deviation is between 2.1 (VC) and 2.8 (corporate alliance). Another difference between the study periods stands out in regards to the correlation of sales growth and the different funding types. Namely, that for period 1 the funding ties and sales growth have consistently negative correlations, while period 2 has positive ones.

We further look at the correlation of our control variables with the dependent and independent variables. Across the time periods the direction and approximate strength of correlations is similar. We hence refer to the findings of the overall period for the sake of simplicity. AgeRank thereby shows a comparatively strong negative correlation with sales growth (-0.29) and employee growth (-0.27). This indicates that the older the DBF, the lower the respective growth rates. For SizeRank we report the opposite, namely positive and slightly weaker correlations with sales growth (0.17) and employee growth (0.09). Hence, larger DBFs

achieve higher growth rates. Interestingly, the correlation directions of age and size are the same within each type of funding yet change signs among the different types. For both size and age, the correlation with total ties is rather small and negative (-0.05 and -0.06 respectively). The same is true for the correlations with VC (age: -0.11; size: -0.16) and government ties (age: -0.20; size: -0.13), while they are positive for international (age: 0.12; size: 0.15) and corporate alliance (age: 0.21; size: 0.23) ties.

Variables	Mean	SD	I	2	3	4	5	9	7	8	9
1 DV Calan	$11.62\%^{\mathrm{ALL}}$	35.32% ^{ALL}									
-sales- VU1	$21.71\%^{1}$	56.57% ¹									
Growin	$3.1\%^{2}$	$32.62\%^2$									
) DV Employed	$1.9\%^{\rm ALL}$	28.76% ^{ALL}	$0.41^{\rm ALL}$								
2. DV-Employee-	$8.26\%^{1}$	$43.26\%^{1}$	0.28^{1}								
Growin	-8.3% ²	$40.36\%^{2}$	0.14^{2}								
	4.30^{ALL}	5.91 ^{ALL}	0.08^{ALL}	$0.27^{\rm ALL}$							
3. IV-AllTies	2.40^{1}	3.82 ¹	-0.03^{1}	0.33^{1}	ı						
	2.28 ²	2.72^{2}	0.12^{2}	0.16^{2}							
	$1.38^{\rm ALL}$	$2.38^{\rm ALL}$	0.15^{ALL}	$0.30^{\rm ALL}$	$0.58^{\rm ALL}$						
4. IV-Gov	0.71^{1}	1.62 ¹	-0.03^{1}	0.30^{1}	0.63^{1}						
	0.75^{2}	1.45 ²	0.18^{2}	0.12^{2}	0.60^{2}						
	$0.91^{\rm ALL}$	2.75 ^{ALL}	$0.03^{\rm ALL}$	0.06^{ALL}	$0.55^{\rm ALL}$	0.05^{ALL}					
5. IV-Corp.	0.52^{1}	1.62 ¹	-0.06^{1}	0.12^{1}	0.57^{1}	0.12^{1}					
	0.49 ²	1.55 ²	0.08^{2}	0.07^{2}	0.63^{2}	-0.01 ²					
	$0.59^{\rm ALL}$	2.10^{ALL}	-0.01 ^{ALL}	$0.08^{\rm ALL}$	$0.52^{\rm ALL}$	$0.04^{\rm ALL}$	-0.02 ^{ALL}				
6. IV-VC	0.36^{1}	1.12 ¹	-0.02^{1}	0.13^{1}	0.48^{1}	0.04^{1}	0.02^{1}	ı			
	0.29^{2}	1.54^{2}	0.04^{2}	-0.03^{2}	0.25^{2}	0.12^{2}	0.07^{2}				
	$1.07^{\rm ALL}$	2.68 ^{ALL}	-0.03 ^{ALL}	$0.14^{\rm ALL}$	0.66^{ALL}	$0.41^{\rm ALL}$	0.80^{ALL}	$0.01^{\rm ALL}$			
7. IV-Intl	0.58^{1}	1.71^{1}	-0.11 ¹	0.19^{1}	0.67^{1}	0.42^{1}	0.87^{1}	0.02^{1}			
	0.59^{2}	1.53^{2}	0.06^{2}	0.20^{2}	0.74^{2}	0.46^{2}	0.63^{2}	0.06^{2}			
	$1.94^{\rm ALL}$	0.80^{ALL}	$0.17^{\rm ALL}$	$0.09^{\rm ALL}$	-0.05 ^{ALL}	-0.13^{ALL}	$0.23^{\rm ALL}$	-0.16 ^{ALL}	0.15^{ALL}		
8. SizeRank	1.96^{1}	0.81^{1}	0.03^{1}	-0.02^{1}	-0.09 ¹	-0.14^{1}	0.19^{1}	-0.19^{1}	0.15^{1}	,	
	1.94^{2}	0.80^{2}	0.02^{2}	0.24^{2}	0.08^{2}	-0.10^{2}	0.19^{2}	-0.07^{2}	0.12^{2}		
	3.36^{ALL}	$1.11^{\rm ALL}$	-0.29 ^{ALL}	-0.27 ^{ALL}	-0.06 ^{ALL}	-0.20^{ALL}	0.21^{ALL}	-0.11 ^{ALL}	0.12^{ALL}	0.32^{ALL}	
9. AgeRank	2.77^{1}	1.31^{1}	-0.26^{1}	-0.18^{1}	-0.10^{1}	-0.17^{1}	0.17^{1}	-0.16^{1}	0.11^{1}	0.32^{1}	
	3.36^{2}	1.11^{2}	-0.11^{2}	-0.06^{2}	-0.02^{2}	-0.19 ²	0.17^{2}	-0.14 ²	0.05^{2}	0.24^{2}	

Table 7 - Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Matrix

(ALL = overall; 1 = period 1; 2 = period 2)

5.2 Result of the Performance Evaluation

Before testing for hypothesis 1, with its focus on understanding the impact of total funding ties on performance, we take a closer look at those DBFs without any funding ties. We compare this group of DBFs without funding ties to the one with funding ties in terms of their average sales and employee growth. Results of the T-test are reported in table 8. Both sales and employee growth rates are higher in the group with funding ties. Yet, only the latter is significant according to the T-test. The differences are quite substantial as DBFs with funding ties grow by 5.29% (overall), whereas those DBFs without funding ties shrink by -5.56% (overall). We further note that for both growth rates we observe a higher rate in period 1 compared to period 2 (sales growth, with ties, period 1: 24%; period 2: 6.5%; sales growth, without ties, period 1: 19%; period 2: -0.7%; employee growth, with ties, period 1: 14.4%; period 2: -2.8%; employee growth, without ties, period 1: 0.6%; period 2: -15.5%). To provide more insight, we further show the number of DBFs in each group, their average age, and average logarithmic sales. While the group without ties is older on average, the difference is only around 2-3 years and not significant according to the T-test. However, average sales are significantly higher for the no-funding-ties group.

Table 9 reports the estimations of the relationship between the independent variables (types of funding) and the dependent variable (DBF performance). We begin with looking at highlevel outcomes across the different regression models. We see that for employee growth most of the models report statistically significant results. On the contrary, sales growth, as a dependent variable, is not statistically correlated in any but two of the models. Periods 1 and 2 differ in their strength and direction of the relationships between funding and growth. Firstly, for sales growth, period 1 shows negative correlations while period 2 shows positive ones. The results for employee growth are consistent in all periods and further achieve similar significance levels. The coefficients are, however, higher in period 2 for employee growth.

	With financial ties	Without financial ties	T-Test $t(df) = t; p<0.05$
Count DBFs			
Overall (04-15)	214	66	
PI (04-10)	148	122	
P2 (09-15)	160	135	
Age			
Overall (04-15)	15.98	17.9	t(311) = 1.5875, p = 0.1134
PI (04-10)	11.86	14.56	t(268) = 2.2227, p = 0.02707
P2 (09-15)	15.31	17.95	$\underline{t}(293) = 2.2504, p = 0.02516$
Survival			
Overall (04-15)	184 survivors (30 failures) 85%	87 survivors (12 failures) 88%	1
P1 (04-10)	142 survivors (6 failures) 96%	118 survivors (4 failures) 97%	
P2 (09-15)	147 survivors (13 failures) 91%	116 survivors (19 failures) 86%	
Average Sales (log(Sales))			
Overall (04-15)	4.66	5.72	t(269) = 3.6431, p = 0.0003 * * *
PI (04-10)	4.48	5.35	t(258) = 2.9079, p = 0.00395*
P2 (09-15)	4.79	5.19	t(261) = 1.2895, p = 0.1984
Sales Growth			
Overall (04-15)	13.4%	8.3%	t(241) = -1.072, p = 0.2848
PI (04-10)	24%	19%	t(206) = -0.6691, p = 0.5042
P2 (09-15)	6.5%	-0.7%	t(164) = -1.4227, $p = 0.1567$
Employee Growth			
Overall (04-15)	5.29%	-5.56%	$\underline{t}(309) = -3.1319, p = 0.0019*$
P1 (04-10)	14.4%	0.6%	$\underline{t}(265) = -2.6318, p = 0.008992^{**}$
P2 (09-15)	-2.8%	-15.5%	$t(273) = -2.6185, p = 0.009326^{**}$

<u>Table 8 – T-test Comparison between DBFs With and Without Funding Ties</u>

(Signif. codes: * < 0.05; ** < 0.01; *** < 0.001)

	Sales Growth		Employee Growth	
	(+ AgeRank + SizeRank)		(+ AgeRank + SizeRank)	
Total (H1)	Coefficient	Adj. R-Squared	Coefficient	Adj. R-Squared
Overall (04-15)	0.004140	0.152	0.01307***	0.1232
P1 (04-10)	-0.008009	0.06842	0.031128^{***}	0.08143
P2 (09-15)	0.012423	0.01274	0.024945***	0.1199
Government (H2)				
Overall (04-15)	0.01687	0.1605	0.027534***	0.102
P1 (04-10)	-0.02370	0.07006	0.05867***	0.05373
P2 (09-15)	0.03469*	0.02669	0.04353**	0.09005
Corporate Alliance (H3)				
Overall (04-15)	0.004764	0.1485	0.009468	0.05893
P1 (04-10)	-0.01117	0.06691	0.035934*	0.02376
P2 (09-15)	0.01582	0.005268	0.01495	0.06833
VC (H4)				
Overall (04-15)	-0.001259	0.147	0.013842	0.06113
P1 (04-10)	-0.03360	0.06751	0.05038*	0.02251
P2 (09-15)	0.02891	-0.002042	0.01910	0.07049
International (H5)				
Overall (04-15)	-0.003985	0.148	0.020387***	0.08678
P1 (04-10)	-0.02813	0.07436	0.04269**	0.03453
P2 (09-15)	0.01272	0.001267	0.06437***	0.1282
DF				
Overall (04-15)	239		307	
P1 (04-10)	204		263	
P2 (09-15)	162		271	

<u>Table 9 – Regression Results Performance Analysis</u>

Reporting Coefficient Estimates & Adjusted R-Squared (Signif. codes: * < 0.05; ** < 0.01; *** < 0.001)

Looking at our first regression model, the estimation coefficient for the total number of ties (hypothesis 1) on sales growth across all time periods is low and insignificant (overall: 0.004; period 1: -0.008; period 2: 0.012). For the relationship between total ties an employee growth we find slightly positive and significant correlations (overall: 0.013***; period 1: 0.03***; period 2: 0.02***). The adjusted R-squared for the model based on the overall data indicates that 12.3% of the variance in employee growth can be explained by the combination of the independent and control variables. R-squared for employee growth in period 1 is 8.1% and in period 2 12%. These outcomes show the models including the control variables. R-squared increased in all cases when adding the controls, indicating that the models can explain more variance in the data when accounting for age and size. Generally, hypothesis 1 regarding sales growth cannot be confirmed. However, we confirm hypothesis 1 in that DBFs with a higher number of total funding ties are associated with higher employee growth.

Government funding is the focus of hypothesis 2. Its relationship with sales growth is significant in period 2 (0.03*) yet insignificant overall (0.02) and in period 1 (-0.02). All three periods with regards to employee growth are significant with a positive relationship (overall: 0.03***; period 1: 0.06***; period 2: 0.04**). The adjusted R-squared shows that overall 10.2% of the variance in employee growth can be explained by government funding while accounting for age and size. In period 1 we explain 5.3% and in period 2 9% of the variance. The significant model predicting sales growth for period 2 has an adjusted R-squared of only 2.7%. We consequently accept hypothesis 2 in that government funding is positively correlated with employee growth in all periods, as well as with sales growth between 2009 and 2015. Yet, we remain cautious in assigning too much explanatory power to government funding regarding the latter.

The models testing hypothesis 3 regress funding from corporate alliances on DBF performance. Sales growth as a dependent variable finds no significant support for a relationship with this type of funding (overall: 0.005; period 1: -0.01; period 2: 0.02). Whereas employee growth is significantly positively estimated by corporate funding alliances only in period 1 (0.04^*). Overall (0.009) and period 2 (0.01) show no significant results. In period 1, with the significant outcome, we can explain 2.3% of the variance in employee growth. We subsequently can only accept hypothesis 3 suggesting a positive relationship between corporate alliance funding and performance in terms of employee growth between 2004 – 2010. In all other scenarios we reject hypothesis 3.

Hypothesis 4 focuses on funding from VCs as an independent variable. In estimating sales growth our models do not offer significant results in any of the periods (overall: -0.001; period 1: -0.03; period 2: 0.03). The models estimating employee growth show positive coefficients, where only period 1 has a significant relationship (overall: 0.01; period 1: 0.05*; period 2: 0.02). We report an adjusted R-squared of 2.3% in the period in which we find a significant result (period 1). We hence only confirm hypothesis 4 in the case of employee growth in the first period from 2004-2010. In all other scenarios we reject H4.

Hypothesis 5 tests whether international funding ties are positively correlated with DBF performance. For sales growth we find no significant results (overall: -0.004; period 1: -0.03; period 2: 0.01). Conversely, for employee growth our models estimate consistently positive and significant coefficients (overall: 0.02***; period 1: 0.04**; period 2: 0.06***). Adjusted R-squared measures 8.7% overall, 3.4% in period 1 and 12.8% in period 2. Hypothesis 5 must be rejected when estimating sales growth yet can be accepted for employee growth in all periods.

	Definition	Sales Growth	Employee Growth
		All: reject	All: accept
H1	All ties	P1: reject	P1: accept
		P2: reject	P2: accept
		All: reject	All: accept
H2	Government ties	P1: reject	P1: accept
		P2: accept	P2: accept
		All: reject	All: reject
H3	Corporate alliance ties	P1: reject	P1: accept
		P2: reject	P2: reject
		All: reject	All: reject
H4	VC ties	P1: reject	P1: accept
		P2: reject	P2: reject
		All: reject	All: accept
H5	International ties	P1: reject	P1: accept
		P2: reject	P2: accept

A summary of our hypotheses and their outcomes for each period is provided in table 10.

Table 10 - Summary of Hypothesis Results

6. Discussion

In this section we answer the 2 guiding research questions of this thesis through the employed theoretical framework based on EE and Entrepreneurial Finance. The main research question addresses the differential effect of different funding ties on the performance of DBFs and is answered in the performance analysis (6.2). Precedingly, we discuss the findings from the pre-study (6.1), which seeks to explore the dynamic composition of different types of funding and how they are employed in the Swedish biotech sector. We end this chapter by reflecting upon limitations and areas for future research (6.3).

6.1 Discussion of Pre-Study

Even though the pre-study served as an enabler to the main analysis of the performance evaluation, a discussion of its results on the composition of funding ties offers explanations for the constraining and enabling factors of the effect on performance. In general, we observe a heterogeneous capital market with many actors and forms of finance employed. Coupled with the observation that many DBFs employ a mix of funding ties, we interpret these landscape characteristics as a sign for the extensive and complex funding needs of the biotech field. We see that each capital provider revealed to have one or at most two very distinct forms of finance employed in their funding relationships with DBFs. Governments focus on grant funding, VCs on equity, and corporate alliances mainly employ royalty & milestone payments. This finding confirms the viewpoint in Entrepreneurial Finance that different funding sources have different motives and offer different forms of engagement to the firms they invest in (Block et al., 2018).

In the overall development trend of the form of finance the data showed how equity and grant financing follow opposite movements. A possible explanation is that grant activity, which are only provided by government funding, purposefully counteracts contractions in equity supply during tense economic times, such as the financial crisis. In line with the funding gap concept proposed in Entrepreneurial Finance literature (Cumming et al., 2019), it is plausible that the supply of government grants is increased intently to fill the gap, which is supposed to be especially prevalent in the biotech industry. Grant funding is further the most heavily employed source of funding. DBFs are thought to leverage this funding source when they require seed and early-stage R&D funding (Çetindamar & Laage-Hellman, 2003). Consequently, it is likely that the high presence of government ties is driven by the fact that every DBF in its early stage requires this source of funding to overcome capital constraints at

times where no other investor is yet willing to take the high risks. In looking at the funding sources along the life cycle stages of DBFs, we find further evidence for this. Government funding is clearly the most utilized by younger and smaller firms. In short, our findings strongly support previous research in their notion of government funding playing a crucial role in bridging funding gaps.

VC funding follows the same pattern in that it is most common in younger and smaller DBFs. Interestingly, the fact that funding from VCs is most present in early stages is in opposition to literature that claims VCs are focused more on mid- to late-stage investments (Drover et al., 2017). The likelihood of future financial return is very difficult to assess in early-stage DBFs (Janney et al., 2021). This is a challenge for VCs that, while seeking high-risk investments, expect a substantial upside (Shuwaikh & Dubocage, 2022). It could be that VCs are driven to target these early stage ventures to avoid the alternative risk of being left behind as the capital flow from corporate alliances grows with the DBF's maturity – a phenomenon known as adverse-selection problem (Manigart et al., 2002). This could very well be the case if a DBF prefers grant and milestone payments which, according to the pecking-order theory, are less expensive and more attractive (S. Myers, 1984). Furthermore, a DBF could see more value in funding ties through corporate alliances, even if they take the form of equity, as these offer substantial access to complementary resources and vital domain expertise (Bratic et al., 2014). These reasons are likely explanations for VC's early engagement in biotech.

With growing age and size, government and VC funding become successively replaced by other types of funding. Our findings hence seem to indicate that the presence of both public investors (M. Berger & Hottenrott, 2021) and VCs (Grilli & Murtinu, 2014) entails a positive signaling effect of endorsement. This legitimizes the DBF and increases the likelihood of follow-on funding from other providers, especially from corporate investors (Janney et al., 2021). We have seen that corporate alliances become more employed with increasing age and size of the DBFs. A DBF in later stages of its life cycle is likely perceived to have more advanced biotech products in its pipeline with higher chances of successful commercialization, which ultimately attracts corporate investors. Thus, our findings can further be explained by the argument that established companies seek to strategically acquire biotech resources and capabilities through collaborations (Röhm et al., 2018), which become more attractive with greater maturity.

The data showed that bank funding is one of the smallest in terms of relative contribution to the total amount of funding ties. Regarding the relative importance of different forms of finance, we have also seen that debt, which is the main form of finance through banks, is often less important than equity and grants. It is generally not surprising that commercial loans from banks are rather insignificant sources of funding. It is understood that high-risk firms with intangible assets more frequently access external equity, while low-risk firms with tangible assets tend to source external debt (A. N. Berger & Udell, 1998). Young, high-risk firms, such as our DBF sample, simply lack the track record and collateral required for debt financing. However, debt funding is still employed at noteworthy levels throughout all age and size groups. In trying to explain the presence of debt already in early stages is the theory we can again make use of the pecking-order theory (S. Myers, 1984; S. C. Myers & Majluf, 1984). The pecking-order suggests that from the entrepreneurial venture's perspective, debt is more attractive than equity. This could explain the early utilization of debt finance from banks.

Generally, we find intersing evidence of the interplays of supply and demand in the capital market for biotech, where there are mismatches between preferences of DBFs and requirements from capital providers. These forces constrain one another and explain the emergent composition of funding ties.

6.2 Discussion of Performance Evaluation

At a high-level we reported that our models estimate significant correlation relationships for employee growth, yet not for sales growth. It is commonly discussed in the biotech field that young DBFs often do not have a commercialized product or service that would earn them revenue (Pisano, 2006). Consequently, sales growth is likely not achieved for the first years of existence. Sales numbers are also highly volatile across the years, which adds to the difficulty of robustly assessing sales growth. As employee growth does show significant relationships in some of the models, this performance metric seems to be more telling for the biotech field where many DBFs are still in their early stages. We believe that funding may often be used to spur firm growth in terms of employee count, which indicates increased efforts and resource allocation towards promising product or service development. The weak results for sales growth are, however, an important finding in itself. This implies that funding ties – across the types we tested – do not translate into sales growth. This has implications for investors in evaluating their potential return on investment, especially for equity investors. Potentially investors will only see returns once certain milestones such as IPOs or M&As occur (P.

Gompers & Lerner, 1998). This highlights the notion that biotech funding requires a long-term approach to gain attractive returns (Toth, 2013).

We first discuss the comparison of DBFs with funding ties and DBFs without funding ties in the studied periods. It is important to recall that we do not have the complete picture of funding for DBFs prior to 2004. DBFs without funding events are on average older, which explains why they have higher average sales as well. Most likely these DBFs will have had funding events prior to our study period. It remains interesting though, that these older and bigger DBFs without funding ties grow at a slower rate, specifically in terms of number of employees. Generally, this leaves us to conclude that growth as a performance metric is likely driven by the presence of funding relationships. To which degree and for which types of funding is explored through the regression analysis, which we discuss next.

Our hypotheses tests reveal support for a positive relationship between the total number of funding ties, government funding ties and international funding ties with employee growth. The positive correlation between total funding ties and DBF performance in terms of employee growth supports the premise of the signaling power of funding ties, leading to increased follow-on finance (Bonini & Capizzi, 2019; Janney et al., 2021). However, not all funding types investigated are positively linked to performance. This finding leads us to side with the conviction that *it is not getting the money; it is who the money comes from* (Sorenson & Stuart, 2001).

Government funding as a specific source of capital shows the strongest performance impact. Public funding strives to strengthen the economy, where job creation is often a major goal (Manigart et al., 2002). Seeing as funding from the government is positively linked with employee growth, it seems that this policy objective is successfully achieved. It is also noteworthy that this type of funding is the only one achieving a significant result for the effect on sales growth. However, the low R-squared value indicates that only very little in the variance of sales growth can be explained by government ties. Which is why we remain cautious in concluding a positive effect on sales growth. Previous researchers have argued that governments lack the domain expertise to support their target DBFs to the same degree as VCs or corporate investors can (Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000). We provide evidence that government funding nevertheless shows a more significant impact on DBF growth than these other two types of funding. It is possible that the importance of overcoming the funding gap (Çetindamar & Laage-Hellman, 2003) is so pressing that the effects of public funding in spurring growth outweigh the advantages of other sources of capital. A statement by Gunilla Oswald on *BioArctic*'s funding situation confirms that *"Support from public authorities has been a decisive factor in our success. . . . Although the amounts were relatively small, they came at critical times in the company's development, "*(Garcia, 2019, para. 10). We summarize the effect of government funding on DBF performance in terms of employee growth as significant and positive.

It is curious that VC and corporate alliances – the two funding ties that are thought to offer substantial access to complementary resources - do not achieve consistent supportive results regarding their impact on performance. Our results hence cannot entirely confirm previous research that has found a positive impact of VC and corporate alliances on DBF performance (Fraser et al., 2015; Park & Steensma, 2013). Only in the period prior to the financial crisis can we report supporting findings of these two funding sources. As growth figures are generally greatly curbed in the second period, it could be that these negative developments interfere with potential performance effects. Yet R-squared values of these periods indicate that only relatively little of the variance in employee growth can be explained by VC funding and corporate alliance funding. We remain careful in concluding these funding types to impact employee growth in a significant manner. As mentioned, these two funding sources have in common that they offer complementary resources, especially access to human capital and knowledge, as well as mentoring and managerial support (Brinster & Tykvová, 2021; Powell et al., 1996). These are resources that in fact might reduce the DBF's need to invest in additional personnel internally. This represents a possible explanation for why funding from VCs and corporates do not show an as high as expected impact on DBF employment. We therefore stress that our results do not necessarily mean that funding from VC and corporates do not have a positive impact on performance. In fact, the high relative importance of both forms of finance as seen in the pre-study suggests that they offer benefits in other ways.

We want to further explore possible reasons for the weak performance impact specifically of VC funding. Foregoing research provides some explanatory arguments. Adverse-selection problems, for instance, postulate that VCs miss out on successful investment targets as equity is perceived as too risky and expensive from the DBF's point of view (Manigart et al., 2002). An argument against this explanation is that the demand for capital in biotech is high and that such high-tech industries are typically struggling with a shortage in capital supply (Cumming et al., 2019). Also, our pre-study results revealed that VC funding is most present in early-stage

DBFs, second to government funding. Hence, there is no indication that DBFs receive funding from other sources prior to VC investments that would constitute a sufficient substitute. As noted by Bertoni & Tykvová (2015), government funding does not suffice as an effective substitute to VC. We do think it is likely though that VCs are pressured to invest earlier into DBFs as they otherwise would prefer to avoid the adverse-selection problem, propelled by corporate investors increasing their funding efforts in mid- to late-stage DBFs. Potentially then, the fact that VCs invest in young DBFs, where risk and uncertainty are higher, could explain the lower performance results of this type of funding. It could further be that VCs prioritize performance of their overall portfolio, while accepting poorer performance of individual DBFs (Manigart et al., 2002).

We reported positive links between international funding and employee growth. These findings contradict previous conclusions that have found geographic proximity to lead to increased performance, argued by facilitated resource access (Powell et al., 2002; Shuwaikh & Dubocage, 2022). The analysis of international funding can provide insights into the relative strength of the Swedish capital market. The US has long acted as a role model regarding the strength of its biotech sector, while Europe has been lacking behind (Arantes-Oliveira, 2007). Looking at the split of international and domestic ties among the funding types reported in the pre-study results, we saw that funding from corporate investors has the greatest international footprint. The strong presence of international funding may on the one hand indicate that the local market is not sufficient in providing the required funds (K.-N. Kang & Park, 2012), which would indicate development needs for the Swedish capital market. On the other hand, this observation can also point to a relative strength of the Swedish biotech field. As incumbent companies often strive to strategically access biotech through collaborations (Röhm et al., 2018), their investment efforts into Sweden may indicate a high sophistication and perceived quality of Swedish DBFs. This side of the argument is supported by Helena Strigård, former CEO of SwedenBIO, Sweden's biotech industry association: "Foreign multinationals and national champions eager to access innovation have understood what Sweden has to offer and are actively building bridges with the local ecosystem" (Garcia, 2019, para. 1). Finally, access to funding has been identified in theory as a sign of a strong EE (Vedula & Kim, 2019). It can be argued that the Swedish biotech EE is stronger the more funding accessibility – whether domestic or foreign - is facilitated. For policy makers, these findings imply that their efforts in strengthening the local biotech field also ought to consider openness to global capital markets.

Our pre-study has shown that VC funding is heavily domestic. Efforts to make Swedish DBFs more attractive specifically to foreign VCs should hence be considered.

6.3 Limitations & Future Research

6.3.1 Limitations

While our results provide several interesting insights and implications, we also want to critically reflect upon some limiting factors. We have accounted for the fact that apart from funding, other factors determine a DBF's success, namely human capital, knowledge creation, market access, and infrastructure relevant to entrepreneurship and innovation (Feldman et al., 2019). In our study we assume that different types of capital providers and their funding agreements entail various degrees of access to these resources. Yet the degree of resource access is only approximated as we are not measuring the complementary resources. What is more, due to the limited scope of this master thesis, we did not empirically test for the systemic interactions between different funding ties employed simultaneously (Hopkins et al., 2013). Further, as with any regression analysis, we need to acknowledge that correlation is not causation. In this thesis we statistically estimate the linear relationship between different funding ties and performance measured as firm growth. While we do find significant correlation coefficients between our dependent and independent variables and have accounted for covariates, we cannot infer that a certain funding type *causes* sales or employee growth.

It is important to note that we did not look at precise volumes of the funding deals in this thesis. It is possible that the relative importance of certain ties varies if the capital volume differs among the types of funding. For example, government grants usually have a lesser scope than VC ticket sizes. A current funding round on medical technology innovation by *Vinnova* offers up to SEK 500,000 to an individual project, or SEK 1 million if projects are co-financed⁹. In comparison, VC ticket sizes within life science in Sweden are typically around SEK 50 million (Jendi & Sklarsky, 2020). Finally, royalty and milestone payments with corporate investors can in some cases take the form of smaller but recurring sums. Hence, the funding ties differ in the amount of external capital provided, which could impact performance. However, as we utilize the EE perspective and evaluate a tie's strength not only through access

⁹ <u>https://www.vinnova.se/en/calls-for-proposals/medtech4health-innovators-in-the-healthcare-sector/medtech4health-innovators-in-healthcare-2022/</u>

to capital, but equally through access to complementary resources, we believe the volume of funding to be less significant.

The occurrence of the financial crisis in the middle of our observation period is another limitation. Sales and employee growth are both significantly lower in the second period from 2009 onwards. While we seek to remain cautious of the effects of the economic downturn, we did not specifically account for it in our models. The years following the crisis for sure impaired levels of employment and sales as well as the supply of capital. We cannot quantify the impact of the crisis fully. However, we do believe that our examination of both periods before and after the crash improve transparency on this manner.

Our findings and thereupon drawn implications are not generalizable to other industries that differ in regards to R&D intensity, product development cycles and capital needs. The peculiarities of the biotech field influence the composition of funding and the presence of funding constraints. However, industries that are characterized as high-tech and R&D intensive will show very similar funding requirements and challenges. The literature often refers to the more broader collectives of high-technology (Corsi & Prencipe, 2017) or technology-based firms (During et al., 2000). To firms associated with these definitions, we believe our findings are very well applicable. Generalizability of the results on the Swedish biotech field to other geographic ecosystems is similarly only partially warranted. There are certain characteristics of our specific setting that influence the funding composition and limit transferability of conclusions. Mainly the maturity of the capital market, influencing the role of direct and indirect governmental funding and the availability of domestic capital, plays a role. But also, the strength of regional research organizations and the regulatory framework regarding intellectual property rights and approval pathways influence the growth dynamics of a biotech ecosystem.

6.3.2 Future Research

Future research has the potential to expand the boundaries of this thesis. First, newly emerged sources of Entrepreneurial Finance, such as crowdfunding, peer-to-peer lending or supply-chain-funding (Fraser et al., 2015) influence the financial landscape of the biotech field and offer additional ways to close the funding gap and potentially drive DBF performance. It would be interesting to investigate whether more recent data would confirm the presence of such new forms of entrepreneurial capital in the Swedish biotech field. Subsequently, these

new forms would also benefit from an analysis of their effect on DBF performance. Especially the impact of new forms on the relative importance of government, VC and corporate alliance funding would demand an evaluation. As mentioned in the limitations section, an analysis of the systemic interactions of different types of funding would be of great interest and ought to include new sources of capital, too (Hopkins et al., 2013).

Second, this thesis has investigated whether ties, that per definition are thought to provide complementary resource access beyond the provision of capital, have a positive impact on firm growth. However, there are several different aspects to complementary resources, as for example managerial support, knowledge sharing, infrastructure, market access, and marketing and commercialization capabilities. Future research should investigate which of these complementary aspects of a funding relationship impact DBF performance and in what way. This would enhance the understanding of which attributes of a funding tie determine its success, to which degree, and under which circumstances. Ultimately this approach would require regarding funding more as an evolving process, considering how complementary resources are accessed and absorbed. Such findings have the potential to add to the life cycle theory of an entrepreneurial venture and guide investment strategies of capital providers, as well as funding decisions of DBFs.

Third, future research on the differential performance effects of international funding from different capital providers would offer great value. As we have seen different performance effects by type of funding, it is likely that the international factor also has varied influences for each of these types. For Swedish policy makers it will be important to know exactly which type of funding to try to attract from abroad. Specifically, we believe it would be interesting to take a closer look at foreign state funding. Other political and strategic dimensions are at play when foreign governments decide to invest into biotech ecosystems. A nation investing into biotech in another country is often motivated by the access to technological capabilities and innovation (Shan & Song, 1997). Sovereign wealth funds (SWF), often clustered in the Middle East, Africa and Asia (Megginson & Gao, 2020), thereby play an increasingly influential role as they are growing in size and sophistication (López, 2022). We believe there are substantial risks involved in allowing too much foreign state influence in critical sectors, which would warrant future research on this topic.

7. Conclusion

The Swedish DBF *BioArctic* demonstrates how funding ties to various capital providers create a solid financial situation, which is critical for firm performance. *BioArctic*'s strong corporate alliances with strategic partners such as *Eisai* and *AbbVie*, public funding support through grants provided for instance by *Vinnova* (Garcia, 2019), and successful VC funding rounds from *Karolinska Development* (2018) have been the cornerstones of the company's success¹⁰.

In this master thesis we evaluate the differential effects of different funding types on DBF performance. As a groundwork for this analysis, we explore the dynamic composition of external funding in the Swedish biotech field through a pre-study. In hypothesizing the relationship between DBF and capital providers we combine theoretical concepts from the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem and Entrepreneurial Finance perspectives. In essence, this framework suggests that several actors come together in an ecosystem to engage in entrepreneurial activity (Wurth et al., 2022). These interorganizational relationships enable a DBF to access financial and complementary resources essential to its success. However, biotechnology is profoundly risky, which in practice implies that funding is constrained (Wilson et al., 2018).

Our explorative pre-study finds a heterogenous capital landscape with changing compositions of funding types, driven by dynamic tensions between capital demand and supply along the life cycle of a DBF. We find that public funding from the government is the most heavily utilized source of funding, especially in early-stage DBFs. We believe grants to be of fundamental importance in bridging the funding gap prevalent in the biotech field. Funding from VCs is similarly most received by younger and smaller DBFs. Corporate alliances fund the biotech field more heavily with growing maturity of the DBF as these established companies strategically seek to access biotech competencies. Employing the adverse-selection problem concept while considering the dynamic funding landscape, we postulate that VCs face the dilemma of balancing their need to minimize investment risk and avoiding being left behind by corporate alliances investing in the most promising DBFs ahead of VCs. To put it differently, VCs are faced with different tensions that influence the optimal time to invest in

¹⁰ See Appendix (9.2) for *BioArctic*'s funding history

biotech. Our results support theories on agency cost and information asymmetry and the importance of signaling by funding relationships.

The results from the performance analysis show that the total number of funding ties, government ties and international ties are significantly positively correlated with employee growth. Both public and foreign capital play important roles in growing the biotech field by increasing the availability of capital and in closing the funding gap. Strong international presence of investors potentially indicates the Swedish biotech ecosystem to be perceived as attractive in the global arena. VC and corporate alliance funding are only associated with higher employee growth in the period preceding the financial crisis. These forms of finance provide access to valuable complementary resources that steer the success of a DBF. The relationship between funding ties and sales growth is found to be very weak in our models. Sales are not only rare in biotech, but also highly volatile. Hence, we warrant caution in the use of sales data as a performance indicator for the biotech ecosystem. Overall, we conclude that external funding affects DBF performance and that the provider of capital matters for a DBF's success.

7.1 Contributions

7.1.1 Theoretical Contributions

The findings of this thesis offer theoretical contributions by employing a combined theoretical lens that offers a holistic explanation of why certain funding types have a greater impact on firm performance, while also accounting for the realities of market failure that constrain the biotech field. Entrepreneurial Finance literature alone does not fully explain the need for interorganizational relationships and the complex ecosystem that evolves around dedicated biotech firms. While this stream of literature considers different funding engagements, it is the combination with EE theory that fully accounts for factors strengthening funding ties. EE alone, however, fails to account for the funding gap caused by mismatches between preferences of the DBF and requirements of external capital providers. By inspecting tensions between DBF and investor, we respond to the call by Shwetzer et al. (2019) to consider the dynamic interactions between ecosystem actors rather than merely identifying them. The two theoretical perspectives, EE and Entrepreneurial Finance, complement each other and enable us to paint a cohesive picture of the observed reality.

With our empirical results we untangle some of the performance relationships of a bigger range of funding ties than most previous studies. The unique event dataset, capturing detailed

funding events over several years, even enables us to explore the entire capital landscape as it is employed in Sweden. Further the data allows for a longitudinal study on both public and private DBFs. Our findings thus add to the existing understanding of the entire biotech capital market in Sweden and empirically test funding and performance relationships, while adding a long-term dimension that enables the analysis of growth trends.

7.1.2 Practical Implications

Our findings have valuable practical implications for policy makers aiming to strengthen the local biotech field. We find that government funding is successful in spurring employment growth in the Swedish biotech ecosystem. An increase in the number of employees implies job creation in a promising field with a positive influence on the broader economy and society. These results should be interpreted as a confirmatory sign that efforts result in economic benefits and that this trajectory ought to be sustained. It will remain imperative that governments provide grants that close the prevalent funding gap. Further, governments should incentivize R&D efforts that tackle the actual disease burden. In other words, public funding should be used for the right causes that add to social welfare. Apart from grants, efforts should aim to facilitate the access to external capital from multiple sources, including international funding. Especially VC funding from abroad could be increased with the right incentivization: Reduction in red tape, strengthening of international collaboration on state level, supporting research institutions and tax regulation are all potential measures to improve the investment attractiveness of the Swedish biotech ecosystem.

Other investors, especially aiming for financial return, can also derive practical conclusions from our insights. Our data analysis supports the view that VCs need to balance risk management and timing of investment to be able to target the most promising DBFs. These investors should pay close attention to the funding activities of established corporates. Syndicated investments, where different capital providers pool their funds to invest, presents a possible way to mitigate the adverse-selection problem. Additionally, our findings question the value of sales growth as a performance indicator for young DBFs. Hence, in valuing DBFs and defining investment targets, investors should be cautious of utilizing a sales metric for these purposes. Our results on employment growth, however, offer an interesting non-financial alternative that can also support in efforts of DBF valuation. In general, we want to highlight the general challenge of valuing the performance of DBFs due to the idiosyncrasies of their R&D intensive business model.

From the point of view of a DBF we offer insight on the different dynamics at play that influence the availability of external funding at different life cycle stages. Understanding the forces that constrain and enable funding can help a DBF in strategically overcoming them and leveraging the appropriate capital sources at the right time. Further, our results add to the understanding of which funding types are the most effective in achieving growth, which can guide management of DBFs in intentionally seeking those specific funding ties. Finally, our thesis explains the importance of interorganizational relationships and taking part in the entrepreneurial ecosystem. Knowing how these relationships to various types of capital providers differ in their relative strength can help DBF management purposefully building ties to access complementary resources.

8. References

- Ahmed, S., & Cozzarin, B. P. (2009). Start-up funding sources and biotechnology firm growth.AppliedEconomicsLetters,16(13),1341–1345.https://doi.org/10.1080/13504850701367338
- Alaassar, A., Mention, A.-L., & Aas, T. H. (2022). Ecosystem dynamics: Exploring the interplay within fintech entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Small Business Economics*, 58(4), 2157–2182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-021-00505-5
- Alvarez-Garrido, E., & Dushnitsky, G. (2016). Are entrepreneurial venture's innovation rates sensitive to investor complementary assets? Comparing biotech ventures backed by corporate and independent VCs: Comparing Biotech Ventures Backed by Corporate and Independent VCs. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(5), 819–834. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2359
- Arantes-Oliveira, N. (2007). A case study on obstacles to the growth of biotechnology. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 74(1), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2006.03.003
- Barringer, B. R., Jones, F. F., & Neubaum, D. O. (2005). A quantitative content analysis of the characteristics of rapid-growth firms and their founders. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 20(5), 663–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2004.03.004
- Berger, A. N., & Udell, G. F. (1998). The economics of small business finance: The roles of private equity and debt markets in the financial growth cycle. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 22(6–8), 613–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4266(98)00038-7
- Berger, M., & Hottenrott, H. (2021). Start-up subsidies and the sources of venture capital. *Journal of Business Venturing Insights*, 16, e00272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbvi.2021.e00272

- Bertoni, F., Colombo, M. G., & Grilli, L. (2011). Venture capital financing and the growth of high-tech start-ups: Disentangling treatment from selection effects. *Research Policy*, 40(7), 1028–1043. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.03.008
- Bertoni, F., Colombo, M. G., & Grilli, L. (2013). Venture capital investor type and the growth mode of new technology-based firms. *Small Business Economics*, 40(3), 527–552. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-011-9385-9
- Bertoni, F., & Randone, P. A. (2004). FINANCING GROWTH AND INNOVATION THROUGH NEW STOCK MARKETS: THE CASE OF EUROPEAN BIOTECHNOLOGY FIRMS. In *Advances in Financial Economics* (Vol. 10, pp. 61– 79). Emerald (MCB UP). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1569-3732(04)10003-0
- Bertoni, F., & Tykvová, T. (2015). Does governmental venture capital spur invention and innovation? Evidence from young European biotech companies. *Research Policy*, 44(4), 925–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.02.002
- Block, J. H., Colombo, M. G., Cumming, D. J., & Vismara, S. (2018). New players in entrepreneurial finance and why they are there. *Small Business Economics*, 50(2), 239– 250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9826-6
- Bonini, S., & Capizzi, V. (2019). The role of venture capital in the emerging entrepreneurial finance ecosystem: Future threats and opportunities. *Venture Capital*, *21*(2–3), 137–175. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691066.2019.1608697
- Bonini, S., Capizzi, V., & Zocchi, P. (2019). The performance of angel-backed companies. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 100, 328–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2018.12.006
- Bratic, W., Blok, J. R., & Gostola, M. M. (2014). Considerations for Start-Up Biotech Company Valuation. *Journal of Commercial Biotechnology*, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.5912/jcb648

- Brinster, L., & Tykvová, T. (2021). Connected VCs and strategic alliances: Evidence from biotech companies. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 66, 101835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2020.101835
- Brown, R., & Mason, C. (2017). Looking inside the spiky bits: A critical review and conceptualisation of entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Small Business Economics*, 49(1), 11–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9865-7
- Bryman, A. (2012). The Nature of Quantitative Research. In *Social Research Methods* (4th ed., pp. 157–376). Oxford University Press.
- Carlsson, B. (2002). Institutions, Entrepreneurship, and Growth: Biomedicine and Polymers in Sweden and Ohio. Small Business Economics, 19(2), 105–121. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016235022728
- Casper, S. (2007). How do technology clusters emerge and become sustainable? *Research Policy*, *36*(4), 438–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.02.018
- Çetindamar, D., & Laage-Hellman, J. (2003). Growth Dynamics in the Biomedical/Biotechnology System. Small Business Economics, 20(4), 287–303. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022959109782
- CFI. (2022). Compound Growth Rate. Corporate Finance Institute. https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/wealth-management/compoundgrowth-rate/
- Clayton, P., Feldman, M., & Lowe, N. (2018). Behind the Scenes: Intermediary Organizations that Facilitate Science Commercialization Through Entrepreneurship. Academy of Management Perspectives, 32(1), 104–124. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2016.0133
- Colombo, M. G., Cumming, D. J., & Vismara, S. (2016). Governmental venture capital for innovative young firms. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 41(1), 10–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-014-9380-9

- Corsi, C., & Prencipe, A. (2017). Improving the external financing in independent high-tech SMEs: Does the foreign ownership matter? *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 24(4), 689–715. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-12-2016-0213
- Cumming, D., Deloof, M., Manigart, S., & Wright, M. (2019). New directions in entrepreneurial finance. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 100, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2019.02.008
- Cumming, D., & Johan, S. (2017). The Problems with and Promise of Entrepreneurial Finance:
 The Problems with and Promise of Entrepreneurial Finance. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 11(3), 357–370. https://doi.org/10.1002/sej.1265
- Czarnitzki, D., & Delanote, J. (2015). R&D policies for young SMEs: Input and output effects. *Small Business Economics*, 45(3), 465–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-015-9661-
- DeCarolis, D. M., & Deeds, D. L. (1999). The impact of stocks and flows of organizational knowledge on firm performance: An empirical investigation of the biotechnology industry. *Strategic Management Journal*, *20*(10), 953.
- Deeds, D. L., Decarolis, D., & Coombs, J. (2000). Dynamic capabilities and new product development in high technology ventures. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 15(3), 211– 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0883-9026(98)00013-5
- Denis, D. J. (2004). Entrepreneurial finance: An overview of the issues and evidence. *Journal* of Corporate Finance, 10(2), 301–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1199(03)00059-2
- DiMasi, J. A., Feldman, L., Seckler, A., & Wilson, A. (2010). Trends in Risks Associated With New Drug Development: Success Rates for Investigational Drugs. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 87(3), 272–277. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2009.295

- Donegan, M., Forbes, A., Clayton, P., Polly, A., Feldman, M., & Lowe, N. (2019). The tortoise, the hare, and the hybrid: Effects of prior employment on the development of an entrepreneurial ecosystem. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 28(4), 899–920. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtz037
- Drover, W., Matusik, S., Townsend, D., Anglin, A., Dushnitsky, G., & Busenitz, L. (2017). A Review and Road Map of Entrepreneurial Equity Financing Research: Venture Capital, Corporate Venture Capital, Angel Investment, Crowdfunding, and Accelerators. *Journal of Management*, 43(6), 1820–1853.
- During, W., Oakey, R., & Kipling, M. (Eds.). (2000). New technology-based firms at the turn of the century (1st ed). Pergamon.
- Dushnitsky, G., & Lenox, M. J. (2005). When do incumbents learn from entrepreneurial ventures? *Research Policy*, 34(5), 615–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.01.017
- Dushnitsky, G., & Shapira, Z. (2010). Entrepreneurial finance meets organizational reality: Comparing investment practices and performance of corporate and independent venture capitalists. *Strategic Management Journal*, n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.851
- Edmondson, A. C., & Mcmanus, S. E. (2007). Methodological fit in management field research. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(4), 1246–1264. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2007.26586086
- Ermini, L., & Hendry, D. F. (2008). Log Income vs. Linear Income: An Application of the Encompassing Principle*. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 70, 807–827. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0084.2008.00531.x
- Feldman, M., Siegel, D. S., & Wright, M. (2019). New developments in innovation and entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 28(4), 817–826. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtz031

- Ferguson, S. M., & Johnson Langer, L. (2021). The U.S. National Institutes of Health Founding A National Biomedical "Innovation Ecosystem." *Journal of Commercial Biotechnology*, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.5912/jcb972
- Filson, D., & Morales, R. (2006). Equity links and information acquisition in biotechnology alliances. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 59(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2004.03.010
- Fraser, S., Bhaumik, S. K., & Wright, M. (2015). What do we know about entrepreneurial finance and its relationship with growth? *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, 33(1), 70–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242614547827
- Garcia, M. H. (2019, November 28). Sweden's Biotech Boom. PharmaBoardroom. https://pharmaboardroom.com/articles/swedens-biotech-boom/
- Gay, B., & Dousset, B. (2005). Innovation and network structural dynamics: Study of the alliance network of a major sector of the biotechnology industry. *Research Policy*, 34(10), 1457–1475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.07.001
- Gilding, M. (2008). 'The tyranny of distance': Biotechnology networks and clusters in the antipodes. *Research Policy*, 37(6–7), 1132–1144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.04.004
- Gilding, M., Brennecke, J., Bunton, V., Lusher, D., Molloy, P. L., & Codoreanu, A. (2020).
 Network failure: Biotechnology firms, clusters and collaborations far from the world superclusters. *Research Policy*, 49(2).
 Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103902
- Giovannetti, G. T., & Morrison, S. W. (2000). Convergence: The Biotechnology Industry Report. Ernst & Young.
- Gompers, P. A., & Lerner, J. (1999). The venture capital cycle. MIT Press.

- Gompers, P., & Lerner, J. (1998). The Determinants of Corporate Venture Capital Successes:
 Organizational Structure, Incentives, and Complementarities (No. w6725; p. w6725).
 National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w6725
- Grassano, N., Hernández, H., Tübke, A., Amoroso, S., Dosso, M., Georgakaki, A., & Pasimeni,
 F. (2020). *The 2020 EU industrial R&D investment scoreboard*. Publications Office of the European Union.
- Grilli, L., & Murtinu, S. (2014). Government, venture capital and the growth of European hightech entrepreneurial firms. *Research Policy*, 43(9), 1523–1543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.04.002
- Gupta, V., Sengupta, M., Prakash, J., & Tripathy, B. C. (2017). An Introduction to Biotechnology. In V. Gupta, M. Sengupta, J. Prakash, & B. C. Tripathy, *Basic and Applied Aspects of Biotechnology* (pp. 1–21). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0875-7_1
- Hall, B. H. (2002). The Financing of Research and Development. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 18(1), 35–51.
- Harrison, A. E., & McMillan, M. S. (2003). Does direct foreign investment affect domestic credit constraints? *Journal of International Economics*, 61(1), 73–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1996(02)00078-8
- Hay, M., Thomas, D. W., Craighead, J. L., Economides, C., & Rosenthal, J. (2014). Clinical development success rates for investigational drugs. *Nature Biotechnology*, *32*(1), 40–51. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2786
- Hellmann, T. (2002). A theory of strategic venture investing. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 64(2), 285–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(02)00078-8
- Hodes, R. J. (2022, October 3). *NIA statement on report of lecanemab reducing cognitive decline in Alzheimer's clinical trial*. National Institute on Aging, National Institutes of

Health. https://www.nia.nih.gov/news/nia-statement-report-lecanemab-reducingcognitive-decline-alzheimers-clinical-trial

- Hodgson, J., & Schreiber-Gregory, D. (2022). The Worldview national ranking of health
 biotech sectors. *Nature Biotechnology*, 40(6), 821–828.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-022-01349-4
- Hoenig, D., & Henkel, J. (2015). Quality signals? The role of patents, alliances, and team experience in venture capital financing. *Research Policy*, 44(5), 1049–1064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.11.011
- Hopkins, M. M., Crane, P. A., Nightingale, P., & Baden-Fuller, C. (2013). Buying big into biotech: Scale, financing, and the industrial dynamics of UK biotech, 1980-2009. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 22(4), 903–952. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtt022
- Hopkins, M. M., Crane, P., Nightingale, P., & Baden-Fuller, C. (2019). Moving from noninterventionism to industrial strategy: The roles of tentative and definitive governance in support of the UK biotech sector. *Research Policy*, 48(5), 1113–1127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.01.008
- Hottenrott, H., & Richstein, R. (2020). Start-up subsidies: Does the policy instrument matter? *Research Policy*, 49(1), 103888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103888
- Hsiang-Ling Chen, A., Wang, X., Zu-Hsu Lee, J., & Fu, C. (2013). Biotech firm valuation in an emerging market – evidence from Taiwan. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 5(2), 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1108/17574321311321586
- Humphery-Jenner, M., & Suchard, J.-A. (2013). Foreign VCs and venture success: Evidence from China. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 21, 16–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2013.01.003
- Jacobides, M. G., Cennamo, C., & Gawer, A. (2018). Towards a theory of ecosystems. *Strategic Management Journal*, 39(8), 2255–2276. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2904

- Janney, J. J., Lakshmi Damaraju, N., & Dess, G. G. (2021). The role of corporate venture capital on returns to acquiring firms: Evidence from the biotechnology industry. *Venture Capital*, *23*(2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691066.2021.1882722
- Jendi, J., & Sklarsky, E. (2020). Funding Report—The Life Science funding Landscape in Sweden 2015-2019. Industriefonden. https://industrifonden.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/06/Life_Science_Funding_Report_2015-2019 Industrifonden.pdf
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3(4), 305–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
- Kang, H. D. (2018). A Start-Up's R&D Stages and the Evolution of Financing Sources:
 Evidence from the Biotechnology Industry. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 8(3), 371-. https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2017-0159
- Kang, K.-N., & Park, H. (2012). Influence of government R&D support and inter-firm collaborations on innovation in Korean biotechnology SMEs. *Technovation*, 32(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2011.08.004
- Karaomerlioglu, D. C., & Jacobsson, S. (2000). The Swedish venture capital industry: An infant, adolescent or grown-up? *Venture Capital*, 2(1), 61–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/136910600295819
- Karolinska Development AB. (2018). *Case Studies—Exits*. Karolinska Development AB. https://www.karolinskadevelopment.com/en/case-studies
- Klofsten, M., & Lindholm-Dahlstrand, Å. (2000). Financing Technology-Based New Ventures: Credibility and Value Creation. In *New Technology Based Firms at the Turn of the Century* (pp. 127–142). Pergamon. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-89855

- Kolympiris, C., Kalaitzandonakes, N., & Miller, D. (2011). Spatial collocation and venture capital in the US biotechnology industry. *Research Policy*, 40(9), 1188–1199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.05.022
- Kolympiris, C., Kalaitzandonakes, N., & Miller, D. (2014). Public funds and local biotechnology firm creation. *Research Policy*, 43(1), 121–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.07.012
- Langreth, R. (2022, October 13). *Meet the Swedish Doctor Behind the Big Alzheimer's Drug Breakthrough*. Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/newsletters/2022-10-13/meet-the-swedish-doctor-behind-the-big-alzheimer-s-drug-breakthrough
- Lazonick, W., & Tulum, Ö. (2011). US biopharmaceutical finance and the sustainability of the biotech business model. *Research Policy*, 40(9), 1170–1187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.05.021
- Lindholm-Dahlstrand, Å. (2000). Nurturing acquired small technology-based firms. Scandinavian Journal of Management, 16(1), 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0956-5221(99)00010-X
- Lindholm-Dahlstrand, Å., & Cetindamar, D. (2000). The dynamics of innovation financing in Sweden. *Venture Capital*, 2(3), 203–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691060050135082
- Lindstrand, A., Melén, S., & Nordman, E. R. (2011). Turning social capital into business: A study of the internationalization of biotech SMEs. *International Business Review*, 20(2), 194–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2011.01.002
- López, D. (2022). SWF 3.0: How Sovereign Wealth Funds Navigated COVID-19 and Changed Forever. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4026109
- Manigart, S., Baeyens, K., & Van Hyfte, W. (2002). The survival of venture capital backed companies. *Venture Capital (London)*, 4(2), 103–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691060110103233
- Manigart, S., Wright, M., Robbie, K., Desbrières, P., & De Waele, K. (1997). Venture Capitalists' Appraisal of Investment Projects: An Empirical European Study. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 21(4), 29–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/104225879702100403
- Mason, C., & Brown, D. R. (2014). Entrepreneurial ecosystems and growth oriented entrepreneurship. *Paris: Final Report to OECD*, 38.
- McCarthy, N. (2021, May 6). Which Companies Received The Most Covid-19 Vaccine R&D Funding? Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/niallmccarthy/2021/05/06/whichcompanies-received-the-most-covid-19-vaccine-rd-funding-infographic/
- McCutchen, W. W., & Swamidass, P. M. (1996). Effect of R&D expenditures and funding strategies on the market value of biotech firms. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 12(4), 287–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/0923-4748(95)00014-3
- McGrath, P. J., & Nerkar, A. (2023). Private Equity: Antecedents, Outcomes, Mediators, and Moderators. *Journal of Management*, 49(1), 158–195. https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063221127907
- McKelvey, M., Alm, H., & Riccaboni, M. (2003). Does co-location matter for formal knowledge collaboration in the Swedish biotechnology–pharmaceutical sector? *Research Policy*, 32(3), 483–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00020-3
- Megginson, W. L., & Gao, X. (2020). The state of research on sovereign wealth funds. *Global Finance Journal*, *44*, 100466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfj.2019.03.003
- Miller, D. J., & Acs, Z. J. (2017). The campus as entrepreneurial ecosystem: The University of Chicago. Small Business Economics, 49(1), 75–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9868-4

- Molloy, P. L., Johnson, L. W., & Gilding, M. (2021). Australian Biotechnology: A 10-Year Study of Investor Performance. *Journal of Commercial Biotechnology*, 26(4), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.5912/jcb1005
- Montgomery, D. C., Peck, E. A., & Vining, G. G. (2021). *Introduction to Linear Regression Analysis*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Myers, S. (1984). *Capital Structure Puzzle* (No. w1393; p. w1393). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w1393
- Myers, S. C., & Majluf, N. S. (1984). Corporate financing and investment decisions when firms have information that investors do not have. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 13(2), 187–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(84)90023-0

OECD. (2005). A Framework for Biotechnology Statistics. OECD.

- Oinas, P., & Malecki, E. J. (2002). The Evolution of Technologies in Time and Space: From National and Regional to Spatial Innovation Systems. *International Regional Science Review*, 25(1), 102–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/016001702762039402
- Park, H. D., & Steensma, H. K. (2013). The Selection and Nurturing Effects of Corporate Investors on New Venture Innovativeness: Role of Corporate Investors on New Venture Innovativeness. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 7(4), 311–330. https://doi.org/10.1002/sej.1165
- Pasayat, A. K., Mitra, A., & Bhowmick, B. (2022). Determination of essential features for predicting start-up success: An empirical approach using machine learning. *Technology Analysis* & Strategic Management, 0(0), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2022.2116569
- Philippidis, A. (2012). Large Molecules Continue to Gain Favor: Small Molecules Are Easier to Make, but Biologics Offer Powerful Playing Field to Explore. *Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News*, 32(10), 10–11. https://doi.org/10.1089/gen.32.10.04

- Pisano, G. P. (2006). *Science business: The promise, the reality, and the future of biotech.* Harvard Business School Press.
- PitchBook Data, Inc. (2022). European Venture Report. https://files.pitchbook.com/website/files/pdf/Q3 2022 European Venture Report.pdf
- Powell, W. W., Koput, K. W., Bowie, J. I., & Smith-Doerr, L. (2002). The Spatial Clustering of Science and Capital: Accounting for Biotech Firm-Venture Capital Relationships. *Regional Studies*, 36(3), 291–305. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343400220122089
- Powell, W. W., Koput, K. W., & Smith-Doerr, L. (1996). Interorganizational Collaboration and the Locus of Innovation: Networks of Learning in Biotechnology. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393988
- Powell, W. W., White, D. R., Koput, K. W., & Owen-Smith, J. (2005). Network Dynamics and Field Evolution: The Growth of Interorganizational Collaboration in the Life Sciences. *American Journal of Sociology*, 110(4), 1132–1205. https://doi.org/10.1086/421508
- Qin, F., Wright, M., & Gao, J. (2019). Accelerators and intra-ecosystem variety: How entrepreneurial agency influences venture development in a time-compressed support program. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 28(4), 961–975. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtz036
- Rees, K. (2005). INTERREGIONAL COLLABORATION AND INNOVATION IN VANCOUVER'S EMERGING HIGH-TECH CLUSTER. *Tijdschrift Voor Economische En Sociale Geografie*, *96*(3), 298–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9663.2005.00461.x
- Regeringskansliet. (2000, December 1). Att spränga gränser. Bioteknikens möjligheter och risker [Text]. Regeringskansliet; Regeringen och Regeringskansliet. https://www.regeringen.se/rattsliga-dokument/statens-offentligautredningar/2000/12/sou-2000103-/

- Revest, V., & Sapio, A. (2012). Financing technology-based small firms in Europe: What do we know? *Small Business Economics*, 39(1), 179–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-010-9291-6
- Röhm, P., Köhn, A., Kuckertz, A., & Dehnen, H. S. (2018). A world of difference? The impact of corporate venture capitalists' investment motivation on startup valuation. *Journal of Business Economics*, 88(3–4), 531–557. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11573-017-0857-5
- Sapienza, H. J. (1992). When do venture capitalists add value? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 7(1), 9–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-9026(92)90032-M
- Schlander, M., Hernandez-Villafuerte, K., Cheng, C.-Y., Mestre-Ferrandiz, J., & Baumann, M. (2021). How Much Does It Cost to Research and Develop a New Drug? A Systematic Review and Assessment. *PharmacoEconomics*, 39(11), 1243–1269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-021-01065-y
- Shan, W., & Song, J. (1997). Foreign Direct Investment and the Sourcing of Technological Advantage: Evidence from the Biotechnology Industry. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 28(2), 267–284. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490101
- Shane, S., & Cable, D. (2002). Network Ties, Reputation, and the Financing of New Ventures. *Management Science*, 48(3), 364–381. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.48.3.364.7731
- Shuwaikh, F., & Dubocage, E. (2022). Access to the Corporate Investors' Complementary Resources: A Leverage for Innovation in Biotech Venture Capital-Backed Companies. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 175, 121374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121374
- Shwetzer, C., Maritz, A., & Nguyen, Q. (2019). Entrepreneurial ecosystems: A holistic and dynamic approach. *Journal of Industry-University Collaboration*, 1(2), 79–95. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIUC-03-2019-0007

- Siegel, D. S., & Wright, M. (2015). Academic Entrepreneurship: Time for a Rethink?: Academic Entrepreneurship. *British Journal of Management*, 26(4), 582–595. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12116
- Söderblom, A., Samuelsson, M., Wiklund, J., & Sandberg, R. (2015). Inside the black box of outcome additionality: Effects of early-stage government subsidies on resource accumulation and new venture performance. *Research Policy*, 44(8), 1501–1512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.05.009
- Sorenson, O., & Stuart, T. E. (2001). Syndication Networks and the Spatial Distribution of Venture Capital Investments. American Journal of Sociology, 106(6), 1546–1588. https://doi.org/10.1086/321301
- Spigel, B. (2017). The Relational Organization of Entrepreneurial Ecosystems. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 41(1), 49–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12167
- Stam, E. (2015). Entrepreneurial Ecosystems and Regional Policy: A Sympathetic Critique.
 European Planning Studies, 23(9), 1759–1769.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2015.1061484
- Stuart, T. E., Hoang, H., & Hybels, R. C. (1999). Interorganizational Endorsements and the Performance of Entrepreneurial Ventures. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(2), 315–349. https://doi.org/10.2307/2666998
- Stuart, T. E., Ozdemir, S. Z., & Ding, W. W. (2007). Vertical alliance networks: The case of university-biotechnology-pharmaceutical alliance chains. *Research Policy*, 36(4), 477–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.02.016
- SwedenBIO. (2020). The Swedish Drug Discrovery and Development Pipeline 2020. https://swedenbio.se/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/The-Swedish-Drug-Discovery-and-Development-Pipeline-2020-SwedenBIO.pdf

- Tingvall, P., & Falkenhall, B. (2017). *Firms responses to private- and government sponsored Venture Capital* (No. 2013/014). Tillväxtanalys.
- Toth, G. (2013). The financial ecosystem available to early-stage biotechnology firms and its misalignment with interests of these firms, of the biotechnology industry and with global disease burden. *Journal of Commercial Biotechnology*, *19*(2), 17-. https://doi.org/10.5912/jcb.586
- Trippl, M., & Tödtling, F. (2007). Developing Biotechnology Clusters in Non-high Technology Regions—The Case of Austria. *Industry & Innovation*, 14(1), 47–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662710601130590
- Valentin, F., Jensen, R. L., & Dahlgren, H. (2008). How Venture Capital Shapes Emerging Bio-clusters—A Cross-country Comparison. *European Planning Studies*, 16(3), 441– 463. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654310801920631
- Vedula, S., & Kim, P. H. (2019). Gimme shelter or fade away: The impact of regional entrepreneurial ecosystem quality on venture survival. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 28(4), 827–854. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtz032
- Vigren, O. (2022). Digitalization, sustainability, and ecosystems: An application of social network analysis to the real estate sector [Doctoral Thesis in Business Studies]. KTH Royal Institute of Technology.
- Vision Research Reports. (2022). Biotechnology Market (By Technology: DNA Sequencing, Nanobiotechnology; By Application: Health, Bioinformatics)—Global Industry Analysis, Size, Share, Growth, Trends, Revenue, Regional Outlook and Forecast 2022 – 2030. Vision Research Reports. https://www.biospace.com/article/biotechnologymarket-size-to-worth-around-us-3-44-trillion-by-2030/

- Wadman, R., & Hütt, R. (2004). The need for a new go-to-market strategy in Europe: How to survive and thrive in the new more complex healthcare marketplace. *Journal of Medical Marketing*, 4(2), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jmm.5040156
- Westhead, P., & Storey, D. J. (1997). Financial constraints on the growth of high technology small firms in the United Kingdom. *Applied Financial Economics*, 7(2), 197–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/096031097333763
- Wilson, N., Wright, M., & Kacer, M. (2018). The equity gap and knowledge-based firms.
 Journal of Corporate Finance, 50, 626–649.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2017.12.008
- Woiceshyn, J. (1995). Lessons in product innovation: A case study of biotechnology firms. *R&D* Management, 25(4), 395–409. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9310.1995.tb01344.x
- World Economic Forum. (2013). Entrepreneurial ecosystems around the globe and company growth dynamics (industry agenda). World Economic Forum.
- Wurth, B., Stam, E., & Spigel, B. (2022). Toward an Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Research Program. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 46(3), 729–778. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258721998948
- Yang, Y. (2007). The Value-Relevance of Nonfinancial Information: The Biotechnology Industry. Advances in Accounting, 23, 287–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0882-6110(07)23011-1
- Zakrzewska, A., & Kijek, T. (2016). Market Valuation of Innovation-Related Intangibles: The Case of Polish Biotechnology Firms. In T. Dudycz, G. Osbert-Pociecha, & B. Brycz (Eds.), *The Essence and Measurement of Organizational Efficiency* (pp. 327–337). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-21139-8_20

Zidorn, W., & Wagner, M. (2013). The effect of alliances on innovation patterns: An analysis of the biotechnology industry. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 22(6), 1497–1524. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dts042

9. Appendix

9.1 Appendix 1 – Definition of Funding Types

Definitions based on the capital provider's classification in the Vinnova-funded event dataset

Government	Governments fund direct and indirectly (Lindholm-Dahlstrand & Cetindamar, 2000); typically public funds provided as grants, soft loans or governmental VC (GVC); the entity can be national, European or international	
Corporate Alliance	Collaborative agreements between a DBF and another DBF, or an established pharma, life science, biomedical company; agreement can be an informal relationships, various licensing, marketing, and supply chain relationships, equity joint ventures (Dushnitsky & Lenox, 2005; Zidorn & Wagner, 2013)	
Venture Capital (VC)	Professional asset management entity that invests capital pooled from institutional investors or wealthy individuals (Clayton et al., 2018); usually actively involved in firm management, with complex financing contracts and pre-defined exit pathways (P. A. Gompers & Lerner, 1999)	
Research	Universities or dedicated research foundations that fund specific research	
Organization	efforts	
Investment Fund	Various specialized funds providing different forms of finance (debt, equity, royalty & milestone payments)	
Private Equity (PE)	Professional investment firm that pools capital from investors and strives to realize financial return through leveraged buyouts, entailing active involvement in the target's business to increase its value (McGrath & Nerkar, 2023)	
Accelerator	Accelerators or incubators provide support services such as access to infrastructure, mentorship, network access, as well as funding (Block et al., 2018)	
Business Angel	Individual and independent investors who invest in early-stage ventures (Clayton et al., 2018); a form of direct and informal finance (A. N. Berger & Udell, 1998)	
Stock Market	Funding through the listing of stocks on the stock market through an IPO	
Holding Company	Funding provided by the holding company of the DBF	
Bank	Commercial banks with debt funding in the form of loans	
Founder, Family	Form of insider finance especially leveraged in seed-financing (A. N.	
α Friends	Derger & Udell, 1998)	

Capital Provider Definition

9.2 Appendix 2 – BioArctic's Funding History¹¹

Investor Name	Funding Type
AbbVie	Corporate Alliance
HBM Healthcare Investments	VC
Horizon 2020 SME Instrument	Government
European Union Seventh Framework Programme	Government
Vinnova	Government
Karolinska Development	VC
UU Invest	VC

¹¹ Extracted from Pitchbook: <u>https://pitchbook.com</u>